# Multicriteria Evaluation in Real Estate Land-use Suitability Analysis:

The case of Volos, Greece

# Tsachageas Panagiotis – Dimitrios

2024

Department of

Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science

Centre for Geographical Information Systems

Lund University



Tsachageas Panagiotis - Dimitrios (2024). Multicriteria Evaluation in Real Estate Land-use Suitability Analysis: The case of Volos, Greece

Master thesis, 30 credits, in Geographical Information Sciences Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science, Lund University

# Multicriteria Evaluation in Real Estate Land-use Suitability Analysis: The case of Volos, Greece

**Tsachageas Panagiotis – Dimitrios** 

Master thesis, 30 credits, in Geographical Information Sciences

**Supervisor** Dr. Vaughan Phillips

#### **Examination Committee**

Dr. Jonathan Seaquist Dr. Harry Lankreijer

Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science Lund University, Sweden Page intentionally left blank

#### Abstract

The integration of Geographic Information Systems (GIS) into real estate analysis has long been considered an interesting interdisciplinary pursuit, but has yet to become mainstream. Despite the increasing academic focus over the last twenty years, this endeavour has mostly been approached from the scientific side of Geography. Inversely, such focus from the real estate sector remains marginal. Notably, there is an expanding theoretical and empirical basis supporting the importance of further exploring the GIS and Real Estate integration potential. Besides, the real estate sector is being increasingly scrutinised regarding the transparency and validity of decision-making practises. GIS-based analysis can help meet such requirements.

The present research looked into the role of GIS in real estate analysis. The aim was to apply multicriteria evaluation techniques for real estate land-use suitability analysis in the Greek coastal city of Volos. The multicriteria evaluation of land-use suitability was examined based on selected spatial criteria related to real estate values in the study area, using the non-fuzzy and fuzzy method of the Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP). The analysis focused on the Commercial, Office and Residential land-uses.

Research findings showed that fuzzy AHP should always be considered in terms of providing more accurate spatial weights compared to the non-fuzzy AHP, but whether the one will be selected over the other is dependent on context and the resources needed. The AHP analysis provided clear classification of suitability for the land-uses examined. Validity of the AHP output was assessed by using correlation analysis. The research also focused on the spatial criteria weight extraction methods, which are not often detailed in relevant studies. Based on the findings, attention is needed when using pairwise comparison matrices (PCMs) for weighting spatial criteria, if the participants have no prior experience with such processes. Also, fuzzification of PCMs should not overextend unless necessary. Linked to the above, live interviews conducted provided consistent PCMs. Acknowledging integration challenges like time and data constraints, this research confirmed the potential for GIS-based multicriteria evaluation to improve real estate decision-making.

Keywords: Geography, GIS, Real Estate, Multicriteria Evaluation, Fuzzy, AHP

Page intentionally left blank

# Contents

Abstract
List of Tablesix
List of Figuresx
Abbreviations
Glossary of termsxi
Charten 1 Jatas dustian
Chapter I – Introduction
1.1 Overview and Motivation
1.2 Research Aim, Questions and Objectives
1.3 Thesis Structure
Chapter 2 – GIS and Real Estate Integration
2.1 Opportunities and Challenges
2.2 Selected Cases of Integration
Chapter 3 – GIS and Multicriteria Evaluation
3.1 Multicriteria Decision Analysis9
3.2 Analytical Hierarchy Process
Chapter 4 – Data and Research Methodology
4.1 Study Area15
4.2 Research Data16
4.3 Research Design
4.4 Primary Data Collection – Expert Insights
4.5 Data Processing
4.5.1 Spatial Criteria Fuzzification
4.5.2 Pairwise Comparison Matrices Processing
4.6 AHP Output Assessment
4.6 Custom Grid Overlay

Chapter 5 – Results	
5.1 Spatial Criteria Weights	
5.2 Land-use Suitability Maps	
5.3 AHP Output Validity Assessment	
Chapter 6 – Discussion	
6.1 Overview	
6.2 Discussion	
6.3 Research Limitations	51
6.4 Conclusions	51

List of References	53
Appendix I – Auxiliary Tables	59
Appendix II – AHP & Criteria Maps	67

# List of Tables

Table 3.1 – Basic MCDM Definitions	10
Table 4.1 – Data used for geoprocessing	17
Table 4.2 – Spatial criteria data types	17
Table 4.3 – Geoprocessing sequence used	20
Table 4.4 – Sampling and tools used in expert interviews	21
Table 4.5 – Fuzzification parameters (triangular form)	24
Table 5.1 – Non-fuzzy and fuzzy spatial criteria weights	29
Table 5.2 - Cell by cell comparison of rasterised AHP with FAHP and Ratings	32
Table 5.3 – Area per AHP suitability and land-use	33
Table 5.4 – Summary statistics for price points used	46
Table 5.5 – Correlation summary for property prices and AHP scores	46

# Appendix I Tables

Table I.1 - Selected cases of GIS integration with real estate and spatial planning	60
Table I.2 – Commonly used spatial criteria	61
Table I.3 – Parameters for suitability criteria sigmoids (s-curves)	62
Table I.4 – Example of completed ratings scoreboard	63
Table I.5 – Example of completed pairwise comparison matrix	63
Table I.6 - Consolidated rating scores and criteria weights	64
Table I.7 – Consolidated pairwise comparison matrices and criteria weights	65
Table I.8 - Consolidated fuzzy pairwise comparison matrices and criteria weights	66

# List of Figures

Figure 4.1 – Study area	16
Figure 4.2 – Research design outline	18
Figure 4.3 – Spatial criteria screening	19
Figure 4.4 – Suitability s-curve for distance from the city centre	23
Figure 4.5 – Suitability s-curve for distance from the bus stops	23
Figure 5.1 - Fuzzy and non-fuzzy AHP criteria weights for commercial LUs	30
Figure 5.2 – Fuzzy and non-fuzzy AHP criteria weights for office LUs	31
Figure 5.3 - Fuzzy and non-fuzzy AHP criteria weights for residential LUs	31
Figure 5.4 – Fuzzy suitability zones for commercial LUs (Ratings)	34
Figure 5.5 – Fuzzy suitability zones for commercial LUs (AHP)	35
Figure 5.6 – Fuzzy suitability zones for commercial LUs (FAHP)	36
Figure 5.7 – Fuzzy suitability grid for commercial LUs (AHP)	37
Figure 5.8 – Fuzzy suitability zones for office LUs (Ratings)	
Figure 5.9 – Fuzzy suitability zones for office LUs (AHP)	39
Figure 5.10 - Fuzzy suitability zones for office LUs (FAHP)	40
Figure 5.11 – Fuzzy suitability grid for office LUs (AHP)	41
Figure 5.12 – Fuzzy suitability zones for residential LUs (Ratings)	42
Figure 5.13 – Fuzzy suitability zones for residential LUs (AHP)	43
Figure 5.14 – Fuzzy suitability zones for residential LUs (FAHP)	44
Figure 5.15 – Fuzzy suitability grid for residential LUs (AHP)	45

# Appendix II Figures

Figure II.1 – Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) diagram	68
Figure II.2 – Suitability map for distances from bus line junctions (commercial LUs)	69
Figure II.3 – Suitability map for distance from city centre (commercial LUs)	70
Figure II.4 – Suitability map for distance from parks & squares (commercial LUs)	71
Figure II.5 – Suitability map for distance from public services (commercial LUs)	72
Figure II.6 – Suitability map for distance from recreation areas (commercial LUs)	73
Figure II.7 – Suitability map for distance from commercial roads (commercial LUs)	74
Figure II.8 – Suitability map for distance from waterfront (commercial LUs)	75
Figure II.9 – Suitability map for distances from bus line junctions (office LUs)	76
Figure II.10 – Suitability map for distances from city centre (office LUs)	77
Figure II.11 – Suitability map for distances from office roads (office LUs)	78
Figure II.12 – Suitability map for distances from parks & squares (office LUs)	79
Figure II.13 – Suitability map for distances from port-front (office LUs)	80
Figure II.14 – Suitability map for distances from public services (office LUs)	81
Figure II.15 – Suitability map for distances from recreation areas (office LUs)	82
Figure II.16 – Suitability map for distances from bus stop (residential LUs)	83
Figure II.17 – Suitability map for distances from health facilities (residential LUs)	84
Figure II.18 - Suitability map for distances from parks & squares (residential LUs)	85
Figure II.19 – Suitability map for distances from public services (residential LUs)	86
Figure II.20 - Suitability map for distances from recreation areas (residential LUs)	87
Figure II.21 - Suitability map for distances from school junctions (residential LUs)	88
Figure II.22 – Suitability map for distances from university facilities (residential LUs)	89

## Abbreviations

AHP	Analytic Hierarchy Process
CR	Consistency Ratio
DSS	Decision Support Systems
FAHP	Fuzzy AHP
F/AHP	Traditional and Fuzzy AHP
GIS	Geographic Information Systems
LUs	Land Uses
MCDA	Multicriteria Decision Analysis
MCDM	Multicriteria Decision Making
MCE	Multicriteria Evaluation
PCM	Pairwise Comparison Matrix
TFN	Triangular Fuzzy Number
WLC	Weighted Linear Combination

Glossary	of terms	5

AHP	Decision-making process where the goal is broken down to set objectives, that have to be served by a combination of criteria. The criteria are weighted using pairwise comparison matrices. The AHP quantifies opinions and preferences
Boolean Logic	Binary logic of either False (0) or True (1) states, applied via Boolean operators of "Or", "And" and "Not"
Consistency Ratio	Ratio measuring the consistency of an examined PCM against the average consistency of a large number of PCMs of the same order (size) containing random numbers
Decision Support System	Customised frameworks aiming to support decision-making processes, and including physical and digital tools e.g. maps, tables, interactive software, process guidelines
Defuzzification	Process of converting a fuzzy set of numbers into a single precise number. The opposite process is fuzzification
Fuzzification	Process of converting crisp values to fuzzy ones, using fuzzy memberships defining the level of suitability, according to set parameters. Defuzzification regards the opposite process
Fuzzy AHP	AHP using spatial criteria weights calculated based on fuzzified pairwise comparison matrices

Fuzzy Logic	Variable logic of continuous ranges between false/rejected (0) and true/accepted (1) states, applied via fuzzy memberships
Fuzzy Memberships	Algebraic expressions of fuzziness based on some continuous form e.g. triangular, trapezoidal, sigmoidal
Fuzzy PCMs	Pairwise comparison matrices were the non-fuzzy scores have been increased (upper values) and decreased (lower value) by a certain factor e.g. $\pm 2$ . Fuzzy PCMs aim to account for uncertainty in opinions and preferences
Fuzzy Spatial Distances	Euclidean distances, fuzzified by using set fuzzy memberships
MCDM/MCDA	Decision-making process for selecting the best option among a set of alternatives, by considering more than one criterion
Pairwise Comparison	Ranking process based on a stepped selection of alternatives e.g. criteria, proceeding by comparing them in pairs
PCM	Matrix with the same set of criteria in its rows and columns, to be compared in pairs. The PCM is reciprocal i.e. the elements in one half of the matrix are the inverse of those in its other half
Property Class/Type	Commercial/Retail, Offices & Residential are the types of real estate property examined and discussed in this thesis
Ratings	Criteria weighting method were a set number of points e.g. 100 have to be allocated to a set number of criteria
Real Estate	The real estate sector as separate and autonomous discipline
Real estate land-uses	Commercial, office & residential land-uses used in this study
Spatial Criteria Layers	GIS layers containing geographical data corresponding to the spatial criteria i.e. bus stops, open spaces, schools to be used in geoprocessing and spatial analysis
Spatial Criteria Weights	Numerical expression of how important each spatial criterion is in determining land-use suitability, when combined with all the other criteria. Criteria weights are expressed as percentages. All criteria weights included in the analysis sum up to 100%
Stakeholders	Any party with an interest in real estate and spatial planning decision-making e.g. public bodies, financial institutions, local communities, property sellers or buyers, realtors, NGOs
Triangular Fuzzy Number	Triangular expression of fuzziness, using a set of three values $(l, m, u)$ i.e. the most probable value $m$ , the lowest probable value $l$ and the upper highest probable value $u$ . In a fuzzy PCM the value $m$ will be the original non-fuzzy scores and the values $l$ and $u$ will be set according to the extent of the fuzzification e.g. $\pm 2$ points from the middle value $m$ .

## **Chapter 1 – Introduction**

#### 1.1 Overview and Motivation

Theorising and discussing on the integration of GIS<sup>1</sup> and Real Estate goes back to the 1990s, even though this interdisciplinary pursuit remained rather niche for many years. Despite the somehow evident dependence on location, GIS tools and spatial analysis have yet to fully enter the mainstream real estate analysis (Reed & Pettit, 2019). In this recent book, editors Reed & Pettit (2019) brought together the collective work of various professionals related to Real Estate. One very important point made through this effort was that Real Estate and GIS integration can be data-driven, supporting robust analyses. Despite Real Estate and GIS being linked to locational parameters, their synergy through an interdisciplinary approach has yet to be sufficiently explored (Reed & Pettit, 2019).

During the last decade the interest and focus on the GIS and Real Estate integration potential has increased. Besides the academic research there is strong institutional and market pressure for optimisation of real estate analysis, also as the result of various property-related systemic shocks over the past years (Renigier-Bilozor *et al.*, 2018). Land valuation using traditional methods is often over-relying on the subjectivity of real estate professionals. Therefore, it is criticised regarding the lack of standardisation and transparency, affecting both the private and the public sector, for example in terms of property value appraisal and taxation respectively (Bencure *et al.*, 2019). GIS tools can provide robust technical and theoretical support to improve real estate analyses.

There have been attempts to integrate spatial fuzzy analysis into real estate research. Fuzzy logic is based on the fuzzy set theory (Zadeh, 1965; as cited in Krecji, 2018) where notions like suitability and preference are not expressed as absolute crisp numbers but as degrees of suitability and preference, using selected fuzzy memberships. For example, when asking whether a site is suitable for a certain land-use the answer is not a simple "yes" or "no" but given as a degree of suitability e.g. 0.675 within a range of 0 (unsuitable) to 1 (absolutely suitable). Fuzzy logic is ideal in cases of subjectivity, ambiguity and imprecision pertaining to judgements and/or insufficient information.

Applying fuzzy analysis methods in real estate decision-making, Lopez *et al.* (2010) used fuzzy specification for real estate valuation. They assessed the effect of client preferences like lighting, view, area, number of rooms etc. expressed as fuzzy memberships, on the assets' marketability. Assessing the residential real estate markets in Poland and Italy according to economic, social and spatial rankings, Renigier-Bilozor *et al.* (2018) concurred that fuzzy analysis is better fit in cases of uncertain and imperfect markets with vague real estate market data. This is directly related to the Greek real estate market and its issues with transparency, accuracy and availability of data (Dimopoulos & Moulas, 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In this thesis, the term refers both to the technical aspect GIS and the science behind such systems

Regarding spatial multi-criteria decision making in urban land-use planning, Mosadeghi *et al.* (2015) compared the analytical hierarchy procedure (AHP) with the Fuzzy-AHP. The two quantitative techniques were assessed in selecting different land-uses (residential, recreation, extractive industry and marine industry) in southern Queensland, Australia. They argued that for the initial stages of planning when identifying possible development options, simplified methods suffice. But when planning needs to go into the detail and examine spatial extents of development, combination of simple and fuzzy AHP methods bears more accurate results. Caprioli & Bottero (2021) noted the recent interest in GIS-supported Multicriteria Decision Analysis (MCDA) for spatial planning purposes. Caprioli & Bottero (2021) used both AHP and fuzzy AHP and argued that the FAHP method can better handle cases of decision-making involving many different stakeholders, and numerous selection criteria which can be reduced. When all criteria are relevant though, the non-fuzzy AHP method seems preferable.

Focusing on the integration of GIS-based analysis and Real Estate in Greece, the research output is still limited. In one of the earliest analyses, Athanasiou & Photis (2004) used cluster analysis to assess land value in relation to public service access. They concluded that more than 60% of city blocks in Volos have different location-based values, compared to the ones attributed to them by the state. Pagourtzi *et al.* (2005) discussed on the potential of GIS techniques, including fuzzy theory, to assess real estate valuation for decision support systems. Their conceptual analysis was focused on a series of variables dependent on distance from points/areas of interest. Tsiotas *et al.* (2017) examined the spatial patterns for hotels, restaurants, banks and gas stations in relation to the bus and road network in Volos City.

This research aimed at filling-in the knowledge gap linked to the application of GIS-based multicriteria evaluation in real estate analysis in Greece. As far as the author is aware, no previous research has been made regarding the comparative application of the non-fuzzy and fuzzy multicriteria evaluation in real estate land-use suitability analysis for the city of Volos. The analysis also delved into the practical implications of extracting spatial criteria weights by using pairwise comparison matrices. Lastly, the land-use suitability output maps were assessed on their validity via correlation analysis. Therefore, the research also contributed to the overall evaluation of the procedures pertaining to the use of multicriteria evaluation in real estate analysis.

#### 1.2 Research Aim, Questions and Objectives

The aim of this research was to apply GIS-based multicriteria evaluation for real estate land use suitability analysis, in the Greek coastal city of Volos. To support this research aim the following research questions (RQs) and research objectives (ROs) were set.

#### Research Questions

- **RQ 1:** What is the relative difference between the non-fuzzy and the fuzzy AHP output for commercial, office and residential land-uses in Volos City?
- **RQ 2:** What is the total area per land-use suitability for commercial, office and residential land-uses in the city of Volos?

#### Research Objectives

- **RO 1:** Select and weight spatial criteria to be used in non-fuzzy and fuzzy AHP real estate land-use suitability analysis in the urban area of Volos City
- **RO 2:** Develop real estate land-use suitability zones in the urban area of Volos City, using non-fuzzy and fuzzy AHP analysis
- **RO 3:** Compare the fuzzy and non-fuzzy AHP output, for real estate land-use suitability analysis in the study area
- **RO 4:** Visualise the AHP real estate land-use suitability zones in grid form
- **RO 5:** Assess the validity of the AHP land-use suitability output

#### **1.3** Thesis Structure

Having established the rationale and the research aim behind the present thesis, Chapter 2 is dedicated to key aspects regarding the integration of GIS and Real Estate. Following up on the theoretical framework, Chapter 3 analyses the connection between GIS-based MCDM and AHP, also in relation to Real Estate. Chapter 4 details the research data, design and methods used in this research. The results of the data collected and processed are presented in Chapter 5. Discussion on the findings and processes along with future research suggestions and limitations are given in Chapter 6.

Page intentionally left blank

#### **CHAPTER 2 – GIS and Real Estate Integration**

#### Introduction

This chapter focuses on key themes of the GIS and Real Estate integration in terms of theory and application. The literature reviewed also regards various practical implications of such a more or less evident interplay between GIS and real estate themes. Table I.1 (Appendix I) summarises some interesting case studies of GIS and RE integration in the last twenty years.

#### 2.1 **Opportunities and Challenges**

Even though the connection between GIS and Real Estate may today seem evident, albeit not always straightforward, the discussion is not new. In the early '90s Thrall & Marks (1993) were underlining the strong impact of GIS in real estate discipline, gradually progressing towards a paradigm shift (Thrall, 1998). Thrall & Marks (1993) extensively analysed the need to instil spatial reasoning in Real Estate, which they found rather simplistic in terms of which spatial parameters were considered and how.

Focus on the use of GIS in Real Estate has recently started to increase. This is due to GIS being gradually recognised as useful in providing geographic reasoning and data-based spatial analysis in Real Estate. For example, Mrowczynska *et al.* (2021) noted that, due to its data collection, spatial analysis and visualisation potential, GIS can effectively be used to bring together professionals and decision-makers from different fields. This was also underlined some years earlier by Podor & Nyiri (2010), where they analysed the usefulness of GIS in combining multidisciplinary knowledge on real estate investment, development and decision-making. Additionally, due to the effects and the successive aftershocks of the global financial crisis of 2008-2010, the real estate sector has been severely scrutinised in terms of the accuracy of property valuations and price prediction, transparency, DSS and monitoring (Renigier-Bilozor *et al.*, 2018).

Real Estate is inherently tied to dynamic and complex spatial issues, the solution to which can be facilitated through the use of GIS (Wofford & Thrall, 1997). Typical example of such case is the suitability analysis used for asset selection, among different options existing at various locations. Thrall (1998) supported that real estate professionals would eventually have to embrace GIS tools and acquire relevant skills. Nevertheless, GIS and Real Estate integration is still far from mature. One of the key barriers to overcome in order to reach integration is convincing real estate professionals that GIS is a practical and easy alternative to traditional and well-established practices (Wofford & Thrall, 1997).

Another important issue regards the different characteristics of real estate property assets and the varying needs of real estate stakeholders. In their analysis, Podor & Nyiri (2010) argued that the various real estate types have different spatial dependencies and sensitivities, for example *Residential* (location, building regulations, taxation, population density), *Retail* 

(location and transportation), and *Offices* (transportation, bus stops, parking, shopping and neighbourhood). Moreover, various Real Estate actors analyse and understand the value of land according to their own needs and agendas. Investors for example focus on yield security, market transparency, infrastructure availability and operational costs (Podor & Nyiri, 2010).

Even though GIS and Real Estate integration is openly discussed, the research focus is not balanced. Geography academics delve into real estate phenomena more easily than real estate professionals (Thrall, 1998), while the opposite is still not so common. Main reason for this imbalance is a preference of the real estate sector for technocratic output which is fast and flashy, while theorisation and explanations are underplayed as overly time-consuming and resource-demanding (Wofford & Thrall, 1997). Moreover, there is a significant risk when generalising results based on small scale observation and analysis (Wofford & Thrall, 1997), which does not help make GIS-based real estate analysis more attractive.

No doubt, academic research relating to GIS and Real Estate integration has expanded, but is still heavily geography-sided. The real estate researchers remain somehow hesitant to explore such topics, unless they produce easy-to-explain, visually pleasing and marketable output. Reed & Pettit (2019) underlined that the various practical implications and potential benefits of combining GIS and Real Estate are not always evident, requiring robust argumentation and accessible interpretation.

If successful, GIS application in Real Estate may improve transparency (accurate, spatially referenced and publicly available real estate data) and fairer taxation (state-imposed property taxes dynamically reflecting the true property values in terms of spatial equity) – gradually leading towards more efficient and stable real estate markets (Thrall, 1998; Dimopoulos & Moulas, 2016; Starcek & Subic Kovac, 2019).

#### 2.2 Selected Cases of Integration

In a recent paper, Bencure *et al.* (2019) attempted to develop and apply an AHP-based model for mass land value appraisal in Thailand sub-urban areas. They underlined the critical importance of credible and accurate land valuations for both the real estate market (financing, development, values etc.) and the public sector (taxation, land uses, expropriations etc.). Demetriou (2018) noted that even though real estate prices are dependent on supply and demand, land has its own value which is tied to spatial parameters. Vernon-Bido *et al.* (2017) made an interesting use of GIS, trying to examine the negative effect of foreclosures on property values and the overall health of the property market. They concluded in their paper that the real estate prices are subject to price and value drop, depending on the distance from densities of foreclosed properties.

Bourassa *et al.* (2005) analysed the impact of aesthetic externalities (water view, landscape and neighbourhood) on residential properties. The effect of aesthetic externalities is stronger and more persistent in cities with varying elevations, compared to flat ones. The link between land values and locational variables is rather inelastic, whereas variables related to building

values are elastic. Bourassa *et al.* (2005) argued that water-view is a cross-city value-adding parameter, while the landscape and attractive locale factors are subjective and city-dependent. Making extended use of GIS capabilities, Wallner (2012) examined the effect of waterfront, sea view and forest view on the real estate prices. On the same topic, Mittal & Byahut (2016) also included open spaces like parks and green trails in their analysis.

For the Indonesian property market, Berawi *et al.* (2010) found that the impact of railroad transit to commercial property prices in Jakarta was rather weak, compared to parameters like property size, location and layout. Proximity to railroad stations may benefit land values, but the effect is dependent on the city examined and the conditions around the railroad stations (maintenance, noise, pollution, crime etc.).

One of the first attempts to use GIS in the Greek real estate was that of Athanasiou & Photis (2004) in the Greek city of Volos. They examined the effect of distance from public services and bus stations on objective values set by the state. They observed that, in more than half of the city bocks the "*institutional*" value (assigned by the state) was higher than the *locational* one (based on distance from public services and bus stations). That said, no assessment of the correlation between institutional and locational values was presented in their study.

Combining MCDA and GIS, Caprioli & Bottero (2021) analysed the site selection process for a major healthcare project in Turin, Italy. They noted that urban planning decision processes are particularly demanding. Decision-makers and stakeholders involved have their own – often conflicting – preferences, expectations and agendas. Focusing on regional planning, Sedogo & Groten (2002) argued that use of GIS can support the improvement of local government efficiency in various aspects of planning and implementation like fairer taxation, access to infrastructure, democratic participation and sustainability policies.

Page intentionally left blank

#### **CHAPTER 3 – GIS in Multicriteria Evaluation**

#### Introduction

This chapter explores the overall concepts of multicriteria evaluation (MCE), analysis and decision-making, also in relation to real estate and spatial planning. The traditional and the fuzzy Analytical Hierarchy Process (F/AHP), as Multicriteria Decision-making (MCDM) methods, are also discussed in the second half of the chapter.

#### 3.1 Multicriteria Decision Analysis

Multicriteria decision making, analysis and evaluation refer to similar processes and are used interchangeably (Malczewski, 1999), with MCE being the umbrella term. Eastman (1999) explained that MCE in GIS regards land allocation, according to set objectives linked to certain attributes these lands must possess. The interaction between the analyst and decision-makers is critical in MCE criteria selection and weighting, and often takes place outside the GIS environment (Gomes & Lins, 2002).

Multicriteria Decision Analysis (MCDA) refers either to *multi-objective* analysis (MODM) i.e. mathematically define and optimise spatial alternatives in land parcels, or *multi-attribute* analysis (MADM) i.e. selection of the best alternative from a predetermined set of options (Feizizadeh *et al.*, 2014; Omidipoor *et al.*, 2019). Eastman *et al.* (1995) noted that MODM is infrequently used in GIS and mostly when the objectives are complimentary. Each suitability map per criterion, based on a set objective, is in turn used as a factor for a new evaluation where the objectives are weighted and combined e.g. through multiplication. In MODM the best alternative is chosen based on objectives that are given relative weights and may be incompatible. In MADM selection has to be made, among a confined set of alternatives, and according to certain characteristics that are duly weighted (Lotfi *et al.*, 2009). When MODM is restricted to a definite number of possible alternatives it approximates the MADM methods (Gomes & Lins, 2002).

As noted by Arratia-Solar *et al.* (2022), Multi-criteria Decision Making (MCDM) regards the assessment of various feasible alternatives to find the best one. Therefore, MCDM does not focus on finding the optimal and final solution, but on optimising decision-making overall. MCDM is about the evaluation and selection of an action compared to alternatives, based on decision-makers' preferences, and when multiple criteria are to be satisfied (Krecji, 2018). MCDM is a non-statistical method to deal with complicated issues, combining quantitative and qualitative elements (Lotfi *et al.*, 2009). Table 3.1 outlines the basic MCDM/MODM definitions, as described by Eastman *et al.* (1995)

Table 3.1 - Basic MCDM definitions	(Eastman et al.,	1995)
------------------------------------	------------------	-------

Term	Description		
Decision	Choice made between alternatives (actions, locations etc.)		
Criteria	Measurable basis to evaluate a decision, and can be either Factors		
	(adding or detracting suitability value in an alternative) or Constraints		
	(limiting an alternative). Factors usually come in continuous surface		
	raster form and Constraints in Boolean vector form		
<b>Decision Rule</b>	Criteria combination procedures e.g. WLC aggregation, thresholds,		
	MCEs comparison, best lands total area etc. and can be either		
	<i>Classification</i> (evaluate alternatives based on their individual feats e.g.		
	flood risk) or Selection (based on alternative feats e.g. best site).		
	Decision Rules depend on the Objectives set		
Objectives	Objectives usually differ from one interest group to the next, and may		
	be conflicting or complementary (e.g. developers vs. owners). Criteria		
	weights will also differ according to set objectives. The solution that		
	satisfies different objectives is called multi-objective decision-making.		
	For an objective, several criteria have to be evaluated and satisfied.		
	Complementary objectives can be combined in a hierarchical MCE		
	extension i.e. assign weights to each objective and combine separate		
	suitability maps into a new composite one		
MCE	Process of applying the Decision Rule through certain steps i.e. criteria		
	standardisation, weighting, evaluation and, optionally, following some		
	target selection guidelines		

Malczewski (2004) detailed that Decision Rules can be *multiobjective* (set of alternatives selected according to a decision model; mathematical programming-oriented; not easy to implement in GIS) or *multiattribute* (Multicriteria, AHP and WLC as main methods; dataoriented). The selection of MCDA criteria or attributes should be based on an underlying theme. The number and quality of selected criteria is critical as it defines the ranking of alternatives (Malczewski & Rinner, 2015). Bencure *et al.* (2019) argued that MCDA can provide an overall picture that is closer to real-life cases, compared to e.g. regression-based resource-demanding methods. Even though structurally less-objective than regression-based models, MCDA considers the judgement of experts focusing on spatial factors.

The integration of GIS and MCDM is a potent decision-support system (Kazemi *et al.*, 2016), which helps deal with projects where the specifications and requirements are semi- or ill-structured, data are insufficient and there are various alternatives and outcomes to examine (Vahidinia *et al.*, 2009). Typical example of a DSS tool are the suitability maps generated for each spatial criterion considered (Dell' Ovo *et al.*, 2018).

According to Malczewski (2004) land-use Suitability Analysis regards the classification of land units based on their suitability for specified uses. The area and its characteristics e.g. size, contiguity may also be defined. LSA can be based on objective *hard* information (based on facts, estimates, measurements, opinion surveys etc.) or subjective *soft* information (preferences, priorities, judgements of decision-makers and/or other interest groups – based on surveys, interviews or questionnaires), or a mix of both.

Visualisation and communication options offered through GIS are able to bring different kinds of decision-makers and other stakeholders together, significantly speeding up and optimising the processes (Caprioli & Bottero, 2021; Mrowczynska *et al.*, 2021). Combining GIS and MCDM/AHP leads to DSS used e.g. for land suitability analysis and selection, for uses with specific requirements (Noorollahi *et al.*, 2022). In a recent GIS and urban planning book, Butler *et al.* (2019) noted that multicriteria analysis can provide common-ground in decision-making, bringing together different stakeholders with often conflicting interests and priorities. Especially for the real estate sector, Podor & Nyiri (2010) noted the potential of GIS in combining knowledge from various disciplines and fields and integrating it into practical DSS. The combination of GIS and MCDA significantly promotes transparency and rationality in decision-making (Mosadeghi *et al.*, 2015; Oppio *et al.*, 2016; Dell' Ovo *et al.*, 2018). Oliveira & Pinho (2010) argued that multicriteria analysis brings together GIS and communicative planning (being flexible, contextual and dependent on co-learning processes; also based on discourse for selecting the best-option).

Malczewski (2004) noted some key issues regarding the integration of GIS into MCDM: data inaccuracy, ambiguity and imprecision, methods used for criteria standardisation and their theoretical basis, and the lack of a common basis for decision rules. Such issues may lead to different results based on the available data and their quality, the standardisation processes followed and the decision rules set.

### 3.2 Analytical Hierarchy Process

### Traditional AHP

The Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP) is a comparatively simple and flexible type of Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis, handling both numerical and non-numerical data (Bencure *et al.*, 2019; Caprioli & Bottero, 2021). As an MCDM method, AHP integrates expert opinions and numerical information through pairwise comparisons and/or other ranking methods (Foroozesh *et al.*, 2022). The AHP is a common MCDM method used autonomously or as part of hybrid approaches (Arratia-Solar *et al.*, 2022; Foroozesh *et al.*, 2022). Moreover, AHP turns Multi-attribute decision-making into a hierarchy of attributes (Jahanshahi *et al.*, 2019). AHP is flexible in its nature as the levels of the hierarchical structure and the combinations of its elements (goals, objectives, attributes and alternatives) can be set according to different needs. Malczewski & Rinner (2015, p. 27) provided some examples of different AHP configurations.

As a MCDA process, AHP can also be used for weighting criteria, which can then be paired through Weighted Linear Combination (Malczewski, 2004; Omidipoor *et al.*, 2019). Eastman (1999) noted that in GIS, WLC-based suitability maps are an expression of uncertainty and are unrelated to probabilities' analysis. As a method, raster-based Weighted Linear Combination lies in the middle of vector-based Boolean *Union* and *Intersection* methods (Eastman, 1999). AHP can also be used as a consensus-building tool (Malczewski, 2004). Pairwise comparison matrices (PCMs) may be set to compare different criteria or decision

alternatives (Krecji, 2018). The typical PCMs used in AHP are *multiplicative* and *reciprocal* and composed of scores from 1 to 9, according to Saaty's linguistic scale (Krecji, 2018). Multiplicative pairwise comparison matrices are deemed acceptable when Consistency Ratio (CR) is less than or equal to 0.1 or 10%. However, this often-used canon is not easily satisfied when the size of the PCM increases (Krecji, 2018). The Consistency Ratio measures the consistency of an examined pairwise comparison matrices of the same order (size) but containing random numbers (Saaty, 1990).

#### Fuzzy AHP

Fuzzy AHP is an advanced MCDM technique (Krecji, 2018). Fuzzy-logic has been integrated into AHP methods to alleviate the effect of uncertainty and subjectivity in human opinions, descriptions and decisions – and to add flexibility (Vahidinia *et al.*, 2009; Feizizadeh *et al.*, 2014; Foroozesh *et al.*, 2022). Regarding flexibility, fuzzy analysis allows the quantification of linguistic expressions and forecasting through the assessment of different scenarios (Mrowczynska *et al.*, 2021). In FAHP, the expert opinions and decisions are the qualitative element and the numerical processing the quantitative one (Raad *et al.*, 2022). As underlined by D' Amato *et al.* (2019) attention is needed when translating linguistic preferences into crisp numbers.

Krecji (2018) highlighted that PCMs are an important tool in MCDM processes. Crisp numbers provided by simple PCMs are not able to capture uncertainty due to human subjectivity or insufficient information, and fuzzification of PCMs should be considered. Fuzzification and defuzzification of fuzzy PCM scores are subject to different methods (Krecji, 2018). The triangular fuzzy numbers are a very common fuzzy extension used (Malczewski & Rinner, 2015; Krecji, 2018). That said, Krecji (2018) underlined the point made by Saaty (2006) that fuzzification of AHP does not lead to more valid output since the numerical scale used to expressed preferences is already fuzzy. Krecji (2018) seems to agree with Saaty (2006) in that changing the PCM scores through fuzzification without the input and consent of decision-makers goes against the initial scope of the whole process, leading to non-valid output. If the decision-makers are certain on their preferences then the PCMs should not be fuzzified.

For Real Estate needs fuzzy logic seems especially attractive (Bovkir & Aydinoglu, 2018). Suitability maps generated through the AHP are useful in many regards such as the selection of suitable land for proposed development projects, identification of discrepancies between infrastructure and land demand, the identification of future development trends – among others. Mosadeghi *et al.* (2015) compared AHP and FAHP for marine development site selection. According to their analysis for the initial stages of assessing development options (focal points) traditional AHP suffices, but when going into detailed analysis (suitable lands extent) FAHP brings better results.

Caprioli & Bottero (2021) combined GIS with MCDA for urban infrastructure site selection, and into a multicriteria spatial DSS. For the MCDM used they extracted criteria weights from AHP and FAHP. AHP seems preferable when all criteria have to be considered as important, time is limited, and data are limited or unreliable. In such cases defuzzification would lead to some criteria to zeroing out. On the other hand, FAHP is stronger when weightings are uncertain, and especially useful when non-experts are included in decision-making (Caprioli & Bottero, 2021). Caprioli & Bottero (2021) concluded that AHP and FAHP gave similar results regarding the most suitable sites. Comparing AHP with FAHP, Kepaptsoglou *et al.* (2013) found a discrepancy of  $\approx 8\%$  between the corresponding criteria weights. It should be noted that the AHP has been criticised regarding its theoretical basis (Malczewski, 2004). However, the use of AHP and FAHP is very common in site selection studies in a variety of fields. Table I.1 (Appendix I) summarises a number of such studies.

#### Fuzzification of spatial criteria

Fuzzy logic is also applied to criteria used in MCE and AHP. Standardisation and subjectivity ambiguities may be alleviated by using fuzzy logic. The selected fuzzy memberships reexpress raster values according to the function selected (Eastman 1999). The process of fuzzifying the spatial criteria standardises the data, and the fuzzy layers are then ready to be combined (Eren & Katanalp, 2022; Noorollahi *et al.*, 2022). Fuzzification of spatial criteria based on fuzzy memberships should not be confused with fuzzification of pairwise comparison matrices. Fuzzified criteria may very well be used without fuzzifying the PCM scale and scores. This is also explored in the data processing section in Chapter 4. Page intentionally left blank

#### **CHAPTER 4 – Data and Research Methodology**

#### Introduction

Before proceeding with the presentation and interpretation of the data analysis, it is important to delve into the specifics of the methodology implemented i.e. the study area, the type and collection method of the data used and the geoprocessing processes followed.

#### 4.1 Study area

For this purpose, the urban core in the Greek city of Volos was selected (figure 4.1). Volos is a diversified (Tsiotas *et al.* 2017) and historical coastal city in the eastern coastline of central Greece, and one of the main ports and transport hubs in the country. Volos is an interesting city-case, including extended seafronts for recreation and tourism, a major university, industrial zone, and transport hubs (port, railway, and national road). Its population is around 140.000 people in the wider municipality of Volos. Also, the nearby area of Mt. Pelion is a major tourism and recreational area, supporting alternative tourism activities throughout the year. In terms of real estate, almost 70% of building stock in Volos was built after 1970 (Elstat, 2011). Volos is a vibrant and easily accessible city, with a fairly stable commercial and real estate market. Its urban form is quite clearly defined, which helps with observations and GIS-based analysis. Additionally, there is development and urban expansion potential in the surrounding areas.

The area of focus has an approximate size of 12.26 Km<sup>2</sup>. The research stayed within the boundaries of the urban core where the spatial criteria used have or may expand their presence in the near future. Outside this area land-uses are currently mostly agricultural, low density industrial and sub-urban residential. Commercial and Offices land-uses are sparse and exceptional. For all calculations and maps the GGRS87 (ESPG: 2100, Projection: Transverse Mercator, map units: meter) projected coordinate system was used. For all raster layers the resolution was set at 5 meters (5x5m cells). It should be noted that the 200x200m block-grid was visually overlaid in all maps, for cross-reference.



Figure 4.1 - Study area

#### 4.2 Research Data

All data used in this research were primary and created by the author and regard the urban core of the Greek port-city of Volos, as presented in section 4.1. In GIS, primary data regard vector and raster layers created by the analyst through digitisation and by using selected software. Sources leading to GIS-ready data to be used are often considered primary sources (Ignatius, 2021). Choices during the digitisation of the data e.g. combinations of schools, bus stops and recreational areas were based on the author's knowledge of the study area, and referenced using Google Earth and also official sources like the ministry of education, Volos City urban transportation association and the University of Volos. Accuracy of the data was assessed based on the ability to clearly geo-locate the features and cross-reference them with other sources like official websites. Property locations and their announced selling prices in the study area were gathered using online real estate platforms, from October 2022 to March 2023. Tables 4.1 and 4.2 summarise the types and nature of the data used in this research.

Data needed for this research are best understood via the research design outline (figure 4.2). Main data were the spatial criteria to be selected, digitised and have their Euclidean distances fuzzified; the criteria weights from the expert insights; and the real estate property locations and online announced prices, for assessing the AHP output validity. All spatial criteria used were digitised by the author in separate map layers, using the GGRS87 projected coordinate system. The resolution of all raster layers was set at 5 meters (5x5m cells).

Data	Туре	File Type	Data Type
Study area boundaries	Quantitative	Vector	Primary
Spatial criteria layers	Quantitative	Vector	Primary
Suitability layers	Quantitative	Raster	Primary
Property locations & prices	Quantitative	Vector	Primary
Spatial criteria weights	Quantitative	Excel table	Primary
AHP output layers	Quantitative	Raster, Vector	Primary

Table 4. 1- Data used for geoprocessing

#### Table 4. 2 - Spatial criteria data types

#	Spatial Criterion	Data Type	Digitisation Accuracy
1	Bus Stops	Feature layer - Points	High
2	Commercial/City Centre	Feature layer - Points	High
3	Education Facilities	Feature layer - Points	High
4	Health Facilities	Feature layer - Points	Very High
5	Major Roads	Feature layer - Line	High
6	Parks and Squares	Feature layer - Polygon	High
7	Port/Seafront	Feature layer - Polygon	Very High
8	Public Services	Feature layer - Points	Very High
9	Recreation Areas	Feature layer - Points	Mid to High
10	University	Feature layer - Points	Very High

#### Spatial Criteria Selection and AHP

For the AHP weight extraction twelve criteria were proposed to real estate experts, based on the literature reviewed (see summary table I.2 in Appendix I), and the author's knowledge of the study area. These were then narrowed down to seven criteria per real estate property type (figure 4.3), which were then used for geoprocessing. The proposed and selected criteria are also shown in tables I.3 – I.8 (see Appendix I). Considering that the AHP aim was to classify suitability zones for the different real estate land-uses i.e. *Commercial, Offices & Residential* the AHP structure can be broken down as shown below (see also figure II.1 in Appendix II).

Level 1:	Classify RE land-use suitability	Goal
Level 2:	Real estate land-uses	Objectives, different per land-use
Level 3:	Spatial criteria	Attributes, seven criteria per land-use
Level 4:	RE land-use suitability maps	Output, map layers per method used



Figure 4.2 - Research design outline



Figure 4.3 - Spatial criteria screening

#### 4.3 Research Design

As mentioned in chapter 1, the research aim was to apply GIS-based multicriteria evaluation for real estate land use suitability analysis, in the Greek coastal city of Volos. To support the research aim, the process outline for the research objectives was set as follows:

- **RO 1:** Rating scoreboards and pairwise comparison matrices were used for different spatial criteria related to RE land-uses. Based on the literature review and the nature of the urban area of Volos City, twelve criteria were proposed to eleven real estate experts and then shortlisted to seven per land-use
- **RO 2:** The criteria sorted and weighted in **RO1** were used in the non-fuzzy and fuzzy AHP analysis, focusing on commercial, office and residential land-uses
- **RO 3:** The non-fuzzy and fuzzy spatial criteria weights and the AHP suitability rasters were compared, to assess the their differences based on utility and validity
- **RO 4:** The urban area of Volos was divided using a 200x200m grid, and the mean AHP scores calculated in **RO3** were used in each grid-block zone
- **RO 5:** AHP output was assessed via correlation analysis by using online announced selling prices and the mean AHP suitability scores in their grid-block

Research design defines the overall plan on how the research is to take place. For a successful research design, data types, data sources, data collection tools and data analysis approach have to be rationally set, within a realistic time-schedule and also considering budget limitations (Sekaran, 2003; Kothari, 2004). The data collection for this research can be characterised as cross-sectional since it took place at a specific time period and for a set of individuals i.e. real estate experts and land-uses, that differ in their characteristics (Sekaran, 2003; Beins & McCarthy, 2012). The research design approach was given in the flowchart in figure 4.2. For the MCE/AHP analysis twelve spatial criteria relevant to the theme of the analysis were proposed to the real estate experts for evaluation and weighting, using different methods i.e. ratings and pairwise comparison matrices (steps 1 to 3). Next, the selected spatial criteria selected were digitised and their Euclidean distance rasters were calculated and fuzzified (steps 4 and 5). Then the non-fuzzy and fuzzy land-use suitability maps were generated in step 6. It should also be noted that the fuzzy-logic was applied to steps 3 and 5. Table 4.3 summarises the basic steps of the geoprocessing sequence used in this research.

T 11 4	•	G · 1
Table 4	4 -	teoprocessing sequence lised
	5-	Geoplocessing sequence used

Geoprocessing Sequence		
1	Identify spatial criteria affecting real estate land-use suitability	
2	Select and weigh spatial criteria, per land-use (expert insights)	
3	Create and prepare spatial map layers and datasets	
4	Calculate Euclidean distance rasters for each criterion	
5	Calculate fuzzy rasters based on set fuzzy memberships	
6	Use weighted overlay on fuzzy layers (WLC)	
7	Develop land-use suitability zones	
8	Assess the AHP output validity	

#### 4.4 Primary Data Collection – Expert Insights

#### Process Overview

For the Analytic Hierarchy Process criteria, weight extraction was based on expert insights, which took place in two stages (step 2, figure 4.2), from June to November 2022. Real estate experts were invited via an open invitation sent to and forwarded by a local educational institute delivering real estate postgraduate programmes accredited by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS). In the open invitation e-mail the potential participants were informed on the general scope of the research, type of data collected, data handling and confidentiality commitment. By directly replying to the original e-mail, those interested would confirm their participation, so they could be sent the scoreboards in Excel format. Out of thirty-nine real estate professionals contacted, thirteen confirmed their participation. The eleven Experts that eventually took part are master's degree holders, and most of them are working for more than five years in the real estate sector. Details on the two stages are shown in the table below.

Stage	Invitees	Participants	Sampling	Tools
Ι	39	11	Convenience	Rating and PCM scoreboards sent through e-mail
II	11	8	Judgement	PCMs filled-in during live interviews, using the seven criteria with the highest rating sum scores in Stage I

Table 4. 4 - Sampling and tools used in expert interviews

Stage I focused on rating the proposed spatial criteria affecting real estate land-use suitability in the city of Volos for each property class. Stage II was dedicated to pairwise comparison scoring of the spatial criteria selected during rating in Stage I. For both stages, pilots were run before sending them to the participants. This split in stages was done due to real estate experts being unfamiliar with PCMs, with the intention to gradually improve consistency in pairwise scorings. Even though included in stage I, PCMs did not bring consistent results. This became evident by looking into the consistency ratios in the stage I PCMs, with many of them exceeding 25%. Finally, the nature of the underlying topic i.e. what were the spatial criteria to be considered was also exploratory and not strictly delineated. Thus, the relative importance of one criterion over the other was not always easy to declare, requiring extra time and consideration. Therefore, it was deemed necessary to run live expert interviews in Stage II, dedicated to property-specific PCMs. Live interviews were conducted by using the Google Meet platform. Each participant was interviewed individually, to ensure their scoring would not be influenced by other experts' opinions. So, no participant had access or any idea on how others scored the criteria in their PCMs. An example of fully completed Ratings and PCM scoreboards is given in tables I.4 and I.5 in Appendix I.

The reasoning behind the selection of synchronous online expert interviews was based on the convenience of the prospective respondents, arranging the interview (scoreboard fill-in) at a time and date of their choosing. At the same time the interviewer can facilitate the process in real time and the respondents have time to go into the detail. Synchronous online interviews combine the advantages of telephone and in-person interviews (Bryman, 2012, pp. 668-669; Leavy, 2017, p. 142). The interviews were structured and based on a scoreboard on which the respondents had already been informed, following the key scientific concepts of interviewing as detailed by Kothari (2004, pp. 98-99; Sekaran, 2003, pp. 232-233). The participants were informed that no sound and/or video recording would take place, that they could withdraw at any time and with no reason, and that no sensitive personal data would be collected whatsoever. All data provided by the experts were promptly anonymised.

#### Stage I and II process details and sampling

In stage I, six criteria (out of twelve proposed) had to be selected and to be given points (Ratings), up to a total of 100. For stage II the PCMs per property class were revised and reformatted. The spatial criteria used here were the seven (six, +1) that got the highest total score in stage I Ratings. Participants were able to select either criterion A or B and score their comparative importance using the 1 to 9 linguistic scale (Saaty, 1980). This phase proceeded through one-to-one web-meetings at a date and time chosen by the participants. Stage II process confirmed that filling-in of the PCMs in the previous stage had not been optimal. For most of the participants the comparison mechanism had not been perfectly clear. Guided completion of the revised matrices brought significantly better and acceptable results. In the individual PCMs most consistency ratios dropped below 10% (CR<0.1), with only few of them ranging from 12% to 17% in one or two property classes. Also, the consolidated matrices Consistency Ratios remained lower than 6%. This was due to participants receiving live support and clarifications e.g. when there was some question on what the spatial criteria meant or included. To avoid influencing the participants, support requested was provided in a non-suggestive manner when they had doubts or questions regarding the criteria compared, and not for the sake of ensuring or improving consistency of the PCMs.

For this research the non-probability *Convenience* and the *Purposive* or *Judgement* sampling. *Convenience* sampling is about reaching out to subjects that are accessible to the researcher. This is the case when the researcher may access such subjects via an institution, organisation or business group (Leavy, 2017). In *Purposive* or *Judgement* sampling the researcher selects the participants considering their characteristics and the accordance with the research aim and objectives. In both methods, generalisation potential is weak (Babbie, 2012; Bryman, 2012). If no generalisation of results is required and the caveats are promptly considered, both sampling methods can be used (Babbie, 2012; Kothari, 2004). *Convenience* sampling was used in Stage I, as explained earlier. In Stage II, eight participants were invited based on their PCM consistency ratios from Stage I, along with three more that did not participate in the 1<sup>st</sup> stage but had initially expressed their interest and could still contribute.

#### 4.5 Data Processing

#### 4.5.1 Spatial Criteria Fuzzification

After the spatial criteria point layers were digitised, the Euclidean Distance raster layers were calculated. To standardise the different layers the following sigmoid function was used:

$$y = f(x) = \frac{1}{(1 + e^{(K*(\chi - \chi o))})}$$
 (Eq. 4.1)

 $\chi$  Distance from source

 $\chi_0$  Mid-point of x on the s-curve

*K* Slope coefficient (steepness) of the curve

This inverse form of the logistic regression function was used to express the suitability y of each raster cell in the criteria layers according to the distance  $\chi$  (in meters) from the source. Slope of the curve coefficient K (unitless) and mid-points  $\chi_0$  (in meters) were set based on the author's knowledge of the study area, and the urban planning concept of the 15-minute city (see e.g. Duany & Steuteville, 2021). The premise was that spatial criteria will contribute to the suitability of real estate land-uses up to a certain walking distance threshold, after which this impact practically zeroes out. Parameters and variables for all spatial criteria s-curves are given in table I.3 (Appendix I). Examples of suitability s-curves are shown below.



Figure 4. 4 -Suitability s-curve for distance<br/>from the city centre (Commercial)Figure 4. 5 -Suitability s-curve for distance<br/>from bus stops (Residential)

According to the literature review conducted for this research, sigmoidals are often used in the fuzzification of spatial criteria. For example, Jahanshahi *et al.* (2019) argued that sigmoid fuzzy memberships may be preferred as being more relevant to geographic phenomena. Some recent studies using such a method are those of Foroozesh *et al.* (2022), Cosimo *et al.* (2021), Pasalari *et al.* (2019), Bovkir & Aydinoglu (2018) and Gorsevski *et al.* (2012).

#### 4.5.2 Pairwise Comparison Matrices Processing

To fuzzify the pairwise comparison matrices the scores given by the experts were increased and decreased by a factor of f = 1 to 3 (see table 4.5), even though most experts were confident on their scores. By comparing the defuzzified weights (section 5.1) the variation of f = 1 was selected for the final analysis, as more reasonable, considering the guided process of scoring during the expert interviews. As mentioned in section 3.2, fuzzification of the PCMs without input from the participants may not be optimal (Krecji, 2018). Table 4.5 shows the PCM fuzzification parameters using the triangular fuzzy number form (TFN).

•			
Original PCM Score (m)	Triangular Fuzzy PCM ( <i>l</i> , <i>m</i> , <i>u</i> )		
x = 1	1, 1, 1 + f		
1 < x < 9	x – f, x, x + f *		
x = 9	9 – f, 9, 9		
* for $x - f < 1$ then $x - f = 1$ and for $x + f > 9$ then $x + f = 9$			

Table 4. 5 - Fuzzification parameters (triangular form)

The triangular fuzzy number form (TFN) assumes a linear gradation between the original score (value *m*) and the lower (value *l*) and upper (value *u*) values. For example, if the original PCM score given by the real estate expert was 6 then the lower and upper values were set as 5 and 7 respectively (for a fuzzification factor of f = 1). Defuzzification of the fuzzy weights (TFN form) was done using the Centre-of-Area/Gravity method, as given in Krecji (2018, p. 66) for the triangular form:

$$w_i = \frac{1}{3} (w_l + w_m + w_u)$$
 (Eq. 4.2)

Also expressed as the Best Non-Fuzzy Performance (Hsieh et al., 2004):

$$BNPw_i = \frac{(u_i - l_i) + (m_i - l_i)}{3} + l_i \qquad (Eq. 4.3)$$

where u, m and l correspond to the upper, middle and lower w fuzzy values. Detailed application of such a method is demonstrated in Hsieh *et al.* (2004, p. 579). Defuzzification is to combine the lower, middle and upper fuzzy scores into crisp criteria weights.

#### Consolidation of the PCMs

For a  $P_p$  matrix of *i* rows and *j* columns, the comparative preference of one criterion over the other is expressed as  $a_{ij}$  scores from 1 to 9 (Saaty's linguistic scale) in a PCM:

$$P_{p} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & a_{12} & \cdots & a_{1j} \\ a_{21} & 1 & \cdots & a_{2j} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_{i1} & a_{i2} & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & a_{12} & \cdots & a_{1j} \\ 1/a_{12} & 1 & \cdots & a_{2j} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 1/a_{1j} & 1/a_{2j} & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(Eq. 4.4)
which for triangular fuzzy numbers is expressed as a fuzzy pairwise comparison matrix  $F_p$ :

$$F_{P} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & (a_{12l}, a_{12m}, a_{12u}) & \cdots & (a_{1jl}, a_{1jm}, a_{1ju}) \\ (a_{21l}, a_{21m}, a_{21u}) & 1 & \cdots & (a_{2jl}, a_{2jm}, a_{2ju}) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ (a_{i1l}, a_{i1m}, a_{i1u}) & (a_{i2l}, a_{i2m}, a_{i2u}) & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} 1 & (a_{12l}, a_{12m}, a_{12u}) & \cdots & (a_{1jl}, a_{1jm}, a_{1ju}) \\ (1/a_{12u}, 1/a_{12m}, 1/a_{12l}) & 1 & \cdots & (a_{2jl}, a_{2jm}, a_{2ju}) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ (1/a_{1ju}, 1/a_{1jm}, 1/a_{1jl}) & (1/a_{2ju}, 1/a_{2jm}, 1/a_{2jl}) & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(Eq. 4.5)

and the consolidated fuzzy non-fuzzy  $C_p$  and fuzzy  $C_{FP}$  PCMs can be expressed as:

$$C_{P} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & c_{12} & \cdots & c_{1j} \\ c_{21} & 1 & \cdots & c_{2j} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ c_{i1} & c_{i2} & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(Eq. 4.6)  
$$C_{FP} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & (c_{12l}, c_{12m}, c_{12u}) & \cdots & (c_{1jl}, c_{1jm}, c_{1ju}) \\ (c_{21l}, c_{21m}, c_{21u}) & 1 & \cdots & (c_{2jl}, c_{2jm}, c_{2ju}) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ (c_{i1l}, c_{i1m}, c_{i1u}) & (c_{i2l}, c_{i2m}, c_{i2u}) & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(Eq. 4.7)

where u, m and l correspond to the upper, middle and lower values. For consolidating the fuzzy and non-fuzzy PCM scores from the eight participants the geometric mean was used.

Then, the fuzzy weights of the consolidated PCM can be calculated as follows:

$$r_{1l} = \left(\prod_{1}^{n} c_{1l}\right)^{1/n} = \left(1 \times c_{12l} \times \cdots \times c_{1jl}\right)^{1/n} \quad (\text{Eq. 4.8})$$

$$r_{2l} = \left(\prod_{1}^{n} c_{2l}\right)^{1/n} = \left(c_{21l} \times 1 \times \cdots \times c_{2jl}\right)^{1/n} \quad (\text{Eq. 4.9})$$

$$\cdots$$

$$r_{il} = \left(\prod_{1}^{n} c_{il}\right)^{1/n} = (c_{i1l} \times c_{i2l} \times \cdots \times 1)^{1/n} \quad (\text{Eq. 4.10})$$

for the lower  $r_{il}$  values, and similarly for the middle  $r_{im}$  and upper  $r_{iu}$  values in each matrix row. In the non-fuzzy PCM there are only the original middle values. The calculations then continue according to the method described in Malczewski (1999, pp. 183-187).

For the triangular fuzzy PCM, the criteria weights are calculated per by using the lower, middle and upper  $r_i$  values of each matrix row:

$$w_{1l} = r_{1l} \times \left(\sum_{1}^{n} r_{1l}\right)^{-1} = r_{1l} \times (r_{1l} + r_{2l} + \dots + r_{ll})^{-1}$$
 (Eq. 4.11)

$$w_{2l} = r_{2l} \times \left(\sum_{1}^{n} r_{2l}\right)^{-1} = r_{2l} \times (r_{1l} + r_{2l} + \dots + r_{ll})^{-1}$$
 (Eq. 4.12)

$$w_{il} = r_{il} \times \left(\sum_{1}^{n} r_{il}\right)^{-1} = r_{il} \times (r_{il} + r_{il} + \dots + r_{il})^{-1}$$
 (Eq. 4.13)

and similarly for the middle  $w_{il}$  and upper  $w_{iu}$  weight values, where *n*, *i* and *j* = 7 for the seven criteria examined. Lastly, the BNPs (eq. 4.3) were calculated for each criterion and for each asset class. Detailed consolidated tables are shown in figures I.7 – I.8 (Appendix I) and a calculation example for the defuzzified criteria weights is given in I.8 (Appendix I).

#### Fuzzification Choices

...

As mentioned in the literature review (section 3.2) triangular fuzzy numbers are commonly used, even though different fuzzification methods are possible i.e. trapezoidal, sigmoidal, Gaussian, polynomial. TFN was selected by the author considering the combination of two factors. First, the fact that there was no knowledge of how uncertainty fluctuated up and down from the score the participants selected. To apply more complex fuzzification methods additional input from the participants is suggested, in order for the analyst to select the most proper method. This translates to significantly increased time resources. Moreover, during the live interviews most participants expressed certainty on their scorings (see section 4.4), thus not justifying more complex fuzzification methods. Secondly, sigmoid fuzzification is simple and thus preferred (Foroozesh *et al.*, 2022).

This sigmoid function was selected as a flexible and fitting function, for the case examined. Parameters *K* and *xo* were set so as to realistically represent a graduation of suitability as distancing from criteria sources. Since no comparable studies using sigmoidal Euclidean distance fuzzification for AHP real estate land-use suitability analysis could be found, parameters were set by the author solely based on knowledge of the area and Greek reality. It should be noted that selection of fuzzification method (PCMs and Euclidean Distances) is at the analyst's discretion, according to the case examined. There is a persisting criticism about the lack of theoretical basis for such choices. This may relate to the lack of argumentation on fuzzification choices (e.g. Foroozesh *et al.* (2022); Cosimo *et al.*, 2021; Pasalari *et al.*, 2019; Bovkir & Aydinoglu, 2018; Gorsevski *et al.*, 2012). This issue is discussed throughout the thesis (e.g. see sections 3.1 and 6.3).

#### 4.6 AHP Output Assessment

#### Correlation Check

For the purpose of assessing the validity of the AHP output correlation analysis was used, as an indirect but quantitative means of validity check. This was based on the assumption that if the mean AHP scores partially correlate with online announced selling prices then the AHP output maps are further supported regarding their validity. Validity check regards the assessment of the process on whether it is acceptable for the purpose it has to serve. In this case, the AHP output was to be checked on whether the GIS representation of the existing land-use suitability is of high quality, reliable and acceptable.

For the correlation assessment the Spearman's rank correlation coefficient Rho  $(r_s)$  was used:

$$r_s = 1 - \frac{(6 * \Sigma d_i^2)}{(n * (n^2 - 1))}$$
 (Eq. 4.14)

- $d_i$  Difference between the ranks of each observation pair
- *n* Number of observations

The observations in each set of data are ranked from the highest to its lowest element. Then, the difference  $d_i$  between each pair of compared observations is calculated and squared. Calculation of  $r_s$  is then done according to Eq. 4.14. The announced selling prices used for correlation check regarded *Offices, Apartments, Detached* houses and *Retail/Commercial* properties, identified in the study area and digitised in separate map layers. These property prices and locations were sought through online real estate platforms, from October 2022 to March 2023. The majority of the properties identified were available on multiple online platforms, through which their location and attributes were cross-checked.

#### Consistency Ratios

As an additional tool to assess validity of the AHP, the Consistency Ratios of the participants PCM were also checked. Consistency Ratio (CR) shows how consistently the opinions or preferences are scored in the PCM. As a simplified example let us suppose that a criterion A is four times more important than a criterion B, and B three times more important than a criterion C. Then, when comparing A with C the former should be twelve times more important than the latter. If this is not the case then there is inconsistency between these pairwise comparisons. The CR expresses the level of this inconsistency within the PCM. It can be argued that a highly inconsistent PCM may be an indication that the participants are not very certain of their preferences, or that they got confused during scoring. When the number of criteria increases it is more likely to have higher CRs, since it becomes more challenging to remember and match preferences from one pairwise comparison to the next.

# 4.7 Urban Grid Overlay

Using a custom 200x200m grid to divide the area with was decided in order to present the AHP raster output in a grid-block form, proposed as an additional non-raster visualisation for real estate purposes. The size of the grid-blocks was subjectively decided by the author based on the overview of the urban core area, and after testing different sizes during geoprocessing. The area of focus has an approximate size of 12.26 Km<sup>2</sup>, and was divided in 266 grid-blocks of 200x200m size and 90 grid-blocks of smaller size in the peripheral zones of the grid. The 90 grid-blocks of smaller size were created due to the overlaid 200x200m grid being clipped using the study area boundaries feature layer.

## Chapter 5 – Results

## Introduction

Having previously established the theoretical background and the overall research approach, this chapter is dedicated to the research output i.e. the spatial criteria weights, the maps and results of the MCE land-use suitability analysis, and the AHP validity correlation check.

# 5.1 Spatial Criteria Weights

The methods followed for Ratings and Pairwise Comparison Matrices of spatial criteria are those presented in Malczewski (1999, pp. 177-187). The final weights based on the non-fuzzy Ratings and PCMs (AHP), and the fuzzy AHP (FAHP) methods are shown below:

		S	patial Cri	teria Weights					
Critoria		Со	mmercia	1				Offices	
Criteria	Ratings	AHP	FAHP	FAHP vs. AHP		Ratings	AHP	FAHP	FAHP vs. AHP
Commercial/City Center	31.90%	32.44%	32.65%	0.65%		21.30%	16.45%	16.23%	-1.34%
Major/Commercial Roads	22.60%	17.98%	18.03%	0.28%		24.60%	22.20%	22.05%	-0.68%
Recreation Areas	9.90%	14.65%	14.82%	1.16%		6.60%	9.14%	9.28%	1.53%
Public Transportation	11.50%	16.56%	16.25%	-1.87%		18.00%	24.47%	24.33%	-0.57%
Public Services	9.90%	4.63%	4.73%	2.16%		16.40%	11.54%	11.32%	-1.91%
Parks and Squares	7.10%	7.17%	6.98%	-2.65%		6.00%	6.34%	6.56%	3.47%
Seafront View	7.10%	6.57%	6.54%	-0.46%		7.10%	9.86%	10.23%	3.75%
		Re	sidentia		Γ				
Criteria	Ratings	AHP	FAHP	FAHP vs. AHP		Fuzzy A	AHP ref	ers to a	fuzzification
Education Facilities	22.20%	20.35%	20.45%	0.49%		factor	f f = 1	(see sec	(100 4 5 2)
Parks and Squares	21.10%	21.17%	21.77%	2.83%			1 / 1		
Public Transportation	17.80%	22.89%	22.63%	-1.14%					
Recreation Areas	13.90%	14.01%	14.26%	1.78%					
Health Facilities	10.00%	11.44%	10.97%	-4.11%					
University	8.30%	6.31%	6.27%	-0.63%					
Public Services	6.70%	3.83%	3.65%	-4.70%					

Table 5. 1 - Non-fuzzy (Ratings and AHP) and fuzzy spatial criteria weights

From the AHP (non-fuzzy) weights in table 5.1 it can be observed that for *Commercial* landuses the two most important criteria take up 50.42% of the total weight, with a strong pull around the city centre. This pattern weakens in *Office* land-uses with the first two criteria weights staying at 46.67%. In *Residential* land-uses the overall split of weights if notably more balanced. Fuzzifying the original PCMs by scores  $\pm 1$  does affect these patterns. The relative difference between the non fuzzy and fuzzy AHP weights in almost all criteria and land-uses is less than 4%. Weights based on Ratings seem to mostly differ in the weights of criteria with medium importance. In *Offices* ratings there is a notable difference in the three most important criteria weights.

#### Sensitivity Analysis

To examine the fluctuation of spatial criteria weights according to the extent of the triangular fuzzification, the non-fuzzy AHP-PCM scores given by the experts were increased/decreased by  $\pm 1$  to  $\pm 3$  points and the respective weights were calculated (figures 5.1 to 5.3). From the graphs it can be seen that further increasing fuzzification mostly affects higher and lower values, leading to gradual decrease of the former and increase of the latter. Also, when higher values are of similar range they tend to converge (e.g. in *Residential* land-use). Sensitivity analysis showed a less than 5% difference between the fuzzy weights of  $\pm 1$  and  $\pm 3$ , for the majority of the criteria. Of course the final defuzzified weights depend on the fuzzification extent selected. If fuzzification is deemed necessary, its extent should be done considering the certainty of answers during the expert interviews. These findings agree with the respective theoretical dimension explored in literature review (Krecji, 2018) and the arguments made by Kepaptsoglou *et al.* (2013). Considering the above, the  $\pm 1$  fuzzification factor *f* was selected for developing the fuzzy AHP maps presented further in this chapter.



Figure 5.1 - Fuzzy and non-fuzzy AHP criteria weights for commercial LUs



Figure 5.2 - Fuzzy and non-fuzzy AHP criteria weights for office LUs



Figure 5.3 - Fuzzy and non-fuzzy AHP criteria weights for residential LUs

# 5.2 Land-use Suitability Maps

By closely observing the output maps shown in figures 5.4 to 5.15 there are certain patterns emerging. In the *Commercial* land-use suitability map the overall suitability coverage of the area is limited, leaving very large parts of the Volos city urban grid as unsuitable. The high and very high suitability zones seem confined close to the waterfront promenade and the close proximity of the city centre. Visual difference between the AHP and the FAHP maps cannot be distinguished as their differences are very small. The Ratings method layer shows a more favourable picture, and highlights the dependence on the main commercial roads. The respective maps are given in figures 5.4 to 5.7.

For *Office* land-uses AHP suitability remains high to very high along the axis of the Volos city centre and the port-front, up to a certain spatial extent and then drops (fig. 5.9). Large parts of the urban grid area periphery are also of very limited or no suitability. The outlying low-suitability areas in the northern part of the map are due to commercial road segments combined with open spaces in this sub-area. The AHP and FAHP maps do not differ much, while the Ratings map shows the high-suitability core extended (see figures 5.8 to 5.11).

For *Residential* land-uses AHP output is straightforward. According to the weighted sum of all spatial criteria, the zones with the highest suitability are those along the seafront next to Volos city port, peaking at the far eastern section close to the extended forest area (fig. 5.13). Suitability is also high along the major roads connecting the city centre and the mid north-eastern area. The high suitability patch near the northern border is due to extended parks, squares and open spaces, combined with recreational areas and bus stops. Most of the study area is of medium to high suitability, and the unsuitable lands are overall limited. Again, there is small difference between the AHP and FAHP output (fig. 5.13 & 5.14). Ratings map shows a more limited very high suitability area, while the mid-ranges are extended (fig. 5.12).

By using the same suitability classification ranges, the % difference between AHP and FAHP map layers was calculated and shown in table 5.2. This agrees with the visual observations and the criteria comparison in the previous section.

Cell-by-cell %	Difference*	
Land-use	AHP vs. FAHP	AHP vs. Ratings
Commercial	0.01%	5.06%
Offices	0.03%	4.30%
Residential	0.99%	16.61%

Table 5. 2 - Cell by cell comparison of rasterised AHP with FAHP and Ratings

\* Raster cells classified as in the AHP map ranges

All non-fuzzy and fuzzy land-suitability maps are shown in figures 5.4 to 5.15. There is no distinguishable visual difference between AHP and FAHP, so only the former was used for the final 200x200m block grid map calculations. All spatial criteria map layers are shown in the figures II.2 – II.22 (Appendix II). The detailed and comparative tables for all methods used, are given in table 5.1 (section 5.1) and tables I.6 – I.8 (Appendix I).

Using zonal statistics on the mean AHP scores for the three real estate land-uses we can get the total area in  $\text{Km}^2$  and as % percentage of the total study area. This is shown in table 5.3.

Area per AH	P Suitabil	ity and Land-	use (mean	AHP score p	er grid bl	ock)
	Res	idential	0	ffices	Con	nmercial
Suitability Class	Area	%	Area	%	Area	%
	$(Km^2)$	Tot. Area	$(Km^2)$	Tot. Area	$(Km^2)$	Tot. Area
Unsuitable	0.35	2.8%	2.67	21.8%	5.31	43.3%
V. Low (0.01 - 0.20)	1.49	12.2%	4.98	40.6%	4.90	40.0%
Low (0.20 - 0.40)	2.74	22.4%	2.78	22.7%	1.15	9.4%
Medium (0.40- 0.60)	4.83	39.5%	1.01	8.3%	0.38	3.1%
High (0.60 - 0.80)	2.59	21.1%	0.62	5.0%	0.37	3.1%
V. High (0.80 - 1.00)	0.25	2.0%	0.19	1.6%	0.14	1.1%
Total	12.25	100.0%	12.25	100.0%	12.25	100.0%

Table 5.3 - Area per AHP suitability and land-use

Regarding residential land-uses more than 50.0% of the study area is of medium to high suitability. For office land-uses only 13.3% of the study area is of medium to high suitability, while less than 8% exceeds medium suitability. Very high suitability is limited in all three land-uses and regards less than 2.0% of the study area. Maximum AHP suitability value for residential, office and commercial land-uses is 0.87, 0.95 and 0.9 respectively. It is important to note that 43.3% of the total area examined is unsuitable for commercial land-uses.

It is also important to clarify that low or no suitability zones does not mean that commercial or office land-uses do not exist in these areas – quite the contrary. The land-suitability analysis led to the development of maps indicating were such land-uses will have the most and least favourable conditions (best sites), based on the criteria selected, the respective weights and the GIS digitisation parameters.

<u>Note</u>: in the following maps (figures 5.4 to 5.15), *fuzzy suitability* refers to suitability analysis based on fuzzified spatial criteria and should not be confused with the fuzzy AHP/PCMs, which is abbreviated as FAHP.



Figure 5. 4 - Fuzzy suitability zones for commercial LUs (Ratings)



Figure 5. 5 - Fuzzy suitability zones for commercial LUs (AHP)



Figure 5. 6 - Fuzzy suitability zones for commercial LUs (FAHP)



Figure 5. 7 - Fuzzy suitability grid for commercial LUs (AHP)



Figure 5.8 - Fuzzy suitability zones for offices LUs (Ratings)



Figure 5. 9 - Fuzzy suitability zones for offices LUs (AHP)



Figure 5. 10 - Fuzzy suitability zones for offices LUs (FAHP)



Figure 5. 11 - Fuzzy suitability grid for offices LUs (AHP)



Figure 5. 12 - Fuzzy suitability zones for residential LUs (Ratings)



Figure 5. 43 - Fuzzy suitability zones for residential LUs (AHP)



Figure 5. 14 - Fuzzy suitability zones for residential LUs (FAHP)



Figure 5. 15 - Fuzzy suitability grid for residential LUs (AHP)

## 5.3 AHP Output Validity Assessment

In order to assess the validity of the AHP output Spearman's correlation method was used, as an indirect but quantitative means of validity check. Correlation was checked between the announced selling price (in  $\notin/m^2$ ) of real estate properties and the mean AHP score of the corresponding location. *Offices, Apartments, Detached* houses, and *Retail/Commercial* properties were identified in the study area and digitised in separate map layers. Table 5.4 shows the statistics of the property prices collected through the online real estate platforms (October 2022 to March 2023). The correlation coefficients and significance is shown in table 5.5 regarding all property types examined.

	Sur	nmary Sta	tistics fo	or Price pe	r Area (€/m	<sup>2</sup> )	
Property Class	Count	Min	Max	Mean	Median	Std. Dev.	Skew.
Retail	92	208	4938	1055	946	698	2.88
Offices	40	406	2817	1270	1137	486	1.48
Apartments	57	644	4727	1465	1388	719	2.00
Detached Houses	47	382	3000	1114	1083	521	1.86

Table 5.4 – Summary statistics for price points used

 Table 5. 5 - Correlation summary for property prices and AHP scores

Price per Area (€/r	n²) ar	nd AHP Sco	res Corr	elation Summary
		Speari	man	Strongth
Property Class	Ν	Rho	Sig.	Strength
Retail	92	0.361	0.000	Moderate
Offices	40	0.461**	0.003	Moderate
Apartments	57	0.386**	0.003	Moderate
Detached Houses	47	0.047	0.755	N/A
** Correlation is sign	ificant	t at the 0.01	level (2-	tailed)

It can be seen that there is a moderate positive correlation between the mean AHP scores and the selling prices of all real estate property samples, except the detached houses class. This may support the argument that the announced selling prices for retail/commercial, offices and apartments moderately agree with mean AHP scores at these specific points. Being a non parametric test, robust to outliers and not assuming linearity, the Spearman's Rho coefficient is a better choice for correlation check in small datasets of real estate prices.

## **Chapter 6 – Discussion**

## 6.1 Overview

For the scope of this research various theoretical and practical implications pertaining to the integration of Geographic Information Systems (GIS) and science with the discipline of real estate were examined. As analysed in the literature review this discussion is not new, but has mostly been the focus of geographers rather than real estate analysts. Notably, over the past decade there has been an increasing interest in GIS-based real estate analysis, going beyond the boundaries of GIS. That said, a paradigm shift related to GIS and Real Estate integration cannot be argued yet. The aim of this research was to apply GIS-based non-fuzzy and fuzzy multicriteria evaluation analysis to Real Estate, further supporting the GIS and Real Estate integration. For that, the Greek city of Volos has been selected as the study area.

# 6.2 Discussion

Since the overall aim of this research has been fulfilled, it is now useful to revisit and discuss on each of the research questions and objectives. Likewise, to discuss on some observations regarding the pairwise comparison weights extraction process and the consistency of PCMs.

**RQ1:** What is the relative difference between the non-fuzzy and the fuzzy AHP output for commercial, office and residential land-uses in Volos City?

As shown in sections 5.1 and 5.2 the relative difference between the non-fuzzy and fuzzy AHP output was very low. Cell-by-cell comparison of the rasterised F/AHP layers revealed a less than 1% relative difference in all real estate land-uses examined. This is reasonable considering that in almost all criteria the difference between the spatial criteria weights did not exceed 4%. Therefore, the non-fuzzy AHP layers were used for the final visualisation on a 200x200m block grid form.

**RQ2:** What is the total area per land-use suitability for commercial, office and residential land-uses in the city of Volos?

The detailed breakdown of the total area per land-use suitability was shown in section 5.2, but there are some interesting results to summarise. For Office land-uses only 13% of the study area is of medium to high suitability. Residential land-uses are significantly better, with more than half of the study area being of medium to high suitability. Also, 43% of the study area is unsuitable for commercial land-uses. Notably, very high suitability regarded less than 2% of the study area, for all land-uses examined. Low or no suitability does not mean that such land-uses do not exist in these zones. The AHP maps just indicate zones with more and less favourable conditions, based on the selected criteria weights and their GIS digitisation.

**RO1:** Select and weight spatial criteria to be used in non-fuzzy and fuzzy real estate landuse suitability analysis in the urban area of Volos City

For the first objective, focus was on selecting and weighting spatial criteria relevant to the study area of Volos City. The literature reviewed provided a number of spatial criteria, often found in real estate MCE/AHP analyses (see Table I.2 in Appendix I), from which twelve spatial criteria were proposed to real estate experts for shortlisting and weighting. This was achieved by using Ratings scoreboards sent by e-mail, and pairwise comparison matrices (PCMs) completed during live expert interviews (see section 4.4). The Ratings method provided coarser weights compared to the F/AHP approach (see section 5.1). The most important use of Ratings, in this research, was as a screening tool for shortlisting a larger pool of proposed criteria. This is especially important when there is a need to offer participants the option of selecting the most relevant criteria, while keeping the number of spatial criteria low. As the number of criteria and the PCM size increase, handling the pairwise comparisons and ensuring PCM consistency becomes challenging.

**RO2:** Generate real estate land-use suitability zones in the urban area of Volos City, using non-fuzzy and fuzzy AHP analysis

The second objective focused on using the selected non-fuzzy and fuzzy AHP criteria weights to generate real estate land-use suitability maps (see section 5.2). Weighted Linear Combination was also used with criteria weights from the Ratings method, for comparison reasons. From this straightforward process some interesting observations were made. Commercial and office land-uses are characterised by significantly lower suitability outside the proximity of the city centre. This may be attributed to lack of infrastructure support outside this zone. As shown in the criteria maps in Appendix II, there is an absence of points of interest in the periphery e.g. recreational activities, public services. The coastal front with its major roads has high densities of points of interest which was also reflected on the AHP maps and the increased percentage of unsuitable lands (section 5.2). For Office land-uses there are areas with low suitability in the periphery of the urban core (national road and peripheral ring) which are worth noting as these junctions can be focused in terms of urban planning and may also hold opportunities for real estate development. Residential land-uses depend on a spatial criteria mix with educational, university and health facilities being included in the calculations. Therefore, the size and dispersion of suitable lands is significantly different compared to commercial and office land-uses. Overall, the AHP-based landuse suitability analysis can be used in examining real estate investment opportunities e.g. where suitability is medium to high but expected to increase. The public sector e.g. the local planning authorities may use land suitability analysis to focus on urban sub-areas in need of infrastructure support, within the wider scope of urban planning.

**RO3:** Compare the fuzzy and non-fuzzy AHP output, for real estate land-use suitability analysis in the study area

For the third objective the non-fuzzy and fuzzy AHP output was compared, in terms of spatial weights and maps (see sections 5.1 and 5.2). For fuzzifying the original PCMs the triangular fuzzy number form was used, by decreasing and increasing the original scores by a factor f = 1, 2 and 3 (section 4.5.2). Sensitivity analysis findings showed that the small variation (< 5%) in fuzzy PCM weights moving up from f = 1, does not balance out the risk of overextending the fuzzification without input from the participants. So, the final maps focused only on the FAHP (f = 1) weights. Overall, there was no strong empirical evidence that fuzzy AHP provided better results, considering the additional time resources required. The relative difference between the non-fuzzy and fuzzy AHP rasters remained lower than 1% for all real estate land-uses. Similarly, the relative difference between most non-fuzzy and fuzzy criteria was less than 4%. Therefore, the non-fuzzy AHP mean values were used for the final grid maps. However, this is project-dependent and cannot be generalised. Concurring with the literature reviewed, the fuzzy AHP should always be considered.

RO4: Visualise the AHP real estate suitability zones in grid form

The fourth objective was achieved by using the mean non-fuzzy AHP values within each 200x200m grid-block to produce AHP maps in a grid-form, approximating city blocks. The final 2D and 3D grid maps stayed true to their non-grid counterparts (section 5.2.), providing a reliable alternative visualisation of discrete grid blocks. Grid form is more accessible to real estate professionals unfamiliar with raster maps.

#### **RO5:** Assess the validity of the AHP land-use suitability output

For the final objective correlation analysis was used, based on the assumption that if mean AHP values and online selling prices significantly correlate then the AHP maps are supported on their validity. Correlation check showed that the AHP land-use suitability values moderately correlate with property prices for apartments, retail/commercial properties and offices. For detached houses correlation analysis did not support a significant link between the AHP values and the announced selling prices. This is reasonable, since pricing in these properties does not closely link to spatial criteria distances. Indeed, homeowners opting for detached houses often seek quieter areas which usually are far from urban cores, and other criteria like proximity to natural areas and open spaces take priority over e.g. distance to public services.

Overall, the AHP output can be deemed valid. The indirect assessment provided through correlation is further enhanced, considering that real estate prices do not only depend on distances from points of interest but various additional factors like age and status of the asset and supply-demand in the real estate market. From a qualitative assessment perceptive, the Consistency Ratios of the consolidated PCMs were at 5.00%, 0.77% and 5.09% (table I.7, Appendix I) for commercial, office and residential land-uses respectively. These are significantly lower than the 10% consistency ratio threshold. PCMs are qualitative in nature (opinion-based) but combined with the high accuracy of the digitised criteria layers (table 4.2) they further support the increased validity of the AHP land-use suitability output presented in the results section of the thesis (Chapter 5).

#### Observations on the pairwise comparison process and PCM Consistency Ratios

In terms of extracting spatial criteria weights, using PCMs may not bring useful results without live interaction with the researcher, unless the participants are already sufficiently familiar with the process, and the underlying topic/question is not exploratory but more procedural/technical. Such observation is similar to those of La Pira et al. (2015), in their extensive analysis of a step-by-step optimisation of PCM process. Through a 4-step process, seventeen participants were gradually familiarised with the process of multicriteria decision making. In their study, Consistency Ratios where significantly higher than 10% in the first two phases and gradually improved toward phase 4, as participants became accustomed to how their judgments affected consistency. According to the literature reviewed for this research, the study by La Pira et al. (2015) is the only one presenting and analysing in detail the process and the challenges of weight extraction through pairwise comparison matrices. They concluded that the interaction between participants leads to convergence/consensus and stronger consistency in the final results. During the weight extraction process for this research no interaction between participants was sought. This would be practically challenging as all participants are established professionals and not easy to bring together at the same time and place. There was also the risk of such grouping and interaction leading to expert opinions affecting one another, reducing the exploratory reach of the process.

Regarding the reliability of PCM scores, the Consistency Ratio (CR) upper threshold of 10%, has long been used (Saaty, 1990; Malczewski & Rinner, 2015; Krecji, 2018). However, as the number of criteria exceeds seven the CR tends to increase, and repeated revisions from the participants are needed. Indeed, there seems to be some discussion on the strictness of the 10% upper threshold (Krecji, 2018), and its calculation (Franek & Kresta, 2014). Depending on the scope of the project, CRs up to 20% can be practically acceptable (Goepel, 2013). The process followed for this analysis confirms this adaptation. Participants were asked to revise their answers only when they seemed unsure, if they wanted to do so, rather than persistently being required to make changes until the CR dropped below 10%. Therefore, some CRs over 10% were kept, given that participants were satisfied with their revisions.

## 6.3 Research Limitations

Limitations of the research methods used regard *external validity*, *reliability* and *Replicability* (Sekaran, 2003; Kothari, 2004; Bryman, 2012). *External validity* has to do with the potential to generalise results. Focus was on a study area with specific characteristics, using crosssectional data via non-random sampling. Moreover, comparable analyses on other Greek cities were not found. However, generalisation of the results was not an objective. *Reliability* regards the stability and consistency of the tools used for measurement. To limit biases and errors, all processes were standardised and common for all participants. *Replicability* is about the repeatability of results when identical research is done, but at different times and context. Even though each process was described in detail, it is not be possible to replicate the results since the participants and the criteria layers will differ at different spatiotemporal contexts.

Going further into the detail of the specific research limitations, it is useful to summarise the various points made throughout the thesis regarding the risk of inaccuracy. Related to the first research objective (RO1) the participants had no previous experience of the MCE process and pairwise comparison between criteria for that matter. The choice to conduct live interviews where the participants received real-time clarifications by the author, aimed at minimising this process risk. The consistency ratios of the consolidated PCMs confirmed the reliability of the PCM weights extracted, that were used to develop the AHP land-use suitability maps.

Pertaining to the second research objective (RO2) the choices regarding the fuzzification of the spatial criteria Euclidean distances and the original non-fuzzy PCMs were based on the author's discretion. The former links to the choice of sigmoidal equation and its parameters, and the latter to the selection of the triangular fuzzy number set. Minimising this risk was done by looking into the different methods used in the relevant literature reviewed, and deciding based on utility and the author's hands-on knowledge of the area (context), always considering the themes explored in the research.

# 6.4 Conclusions

The aim of this research was to apply GIS-based non-fuzzy and fuzzy multicriteria evaluation analysis (MCE) to real estate land-use suitability in the Greek coastal city of Volos. This was achieved by selecting and weighting seven spatial criteria, out of twelve initially proposed to real estate experts. These weighted criteria were digitised as separate layers and combined, to produce suitability maps for commercial, office and residential land-uses. For the aim of this research the land-use suitability analysis provided accurate output for the real estate classes examined. Care during weight extraction led to reliable criteria weights and suitability maps.

Comparing the rasterised non-fuzzy and fuzzy AHP layers on a cell-by-cell basis revealed a less than 1% difference in all three land-uses, using the same suitability classification. This very small difference was also evident in the criteria weight comparison, where the difference remained less than 4%, for almost all criteria and land-uses. So the non-fuzzy mean AHP values were used for the final maps on a 200x200m block grid. The AHP output provided

interesting results in terms of percentage of area per land-use suitability class. Namely, 43% of the study area is unsuitable for commercial land-uses. For Office land-uses only 13% of the study area is of medium to high suitability. Residential land-uses are more favoured, with more than half of the study area being of medium to high suitability. Notably, very high suitability regarded less than 2% of the study area, for all land-uses examined.

The strength of the AHP output was assessed via correlation check between announced selling prices  $(\epsilon/m^2)$  in the study area and the mean AHP values in their position. Apartment, commercial and office property prices moderately correlated with AHP land-use suitability values. Considering that numerous factors affect real estate prices a moderate, but statistically significant, correlation is not negligible and indirectly supports the validity of the AHP maps. For detached houses no correlation between land-use suitability and market prices was found. This was attributed to the idiosyncratic nature of the detached houses property class. That being said, applying the same methods for digitising and weighting the spatial criteria indirectly supports the values also.

Overall, the use of GIS-based analysis in Real Estate has evolved, but no paradigm shift can be argued yet. Along with the advantages of GIS and Real Estate integration the respective limitations and prerequisites have to be acknowledged. Apart from the persisting real estate data availability and accuracy issues, the success of GIS and Real Estate integration is also dependent on realistic expectations. The *time* factor is linked to such expectations. GIS-based analysis is not faster than rules-of-thumb used in everyday real estate practice. Collection, cross-reference, geo-processing and visualisation of data take time and are resource-intensive. What GIS-based analysis can contribute to Real Estate is a long-term framework, on which decisions will be made in a more geographically informed manner. Insisting on unrealistic expectations may lead to failure, hindering the integration of GIS and Real Estate.

Future research may focus on expanding similar spatial analysis on other Greek cities, which could provide comparable results. The methods and processes detailed in this thesis could be used also at a future time to provide an update linked to the current research. Considering the growing interest in GIS and Real Estate integration and the need for rationalising the Greek property market, relevant future research is strongly suggested.

# List of References

Arratia-Solar, A., Svobodova, K., Lebre, E. & Owen, J. R. (2022). Conceptual framework to assist in the decision-making process when planning for post-mining land-uses. *The Extractive Industries and Society*, 10(101083). DOI: 10.1016/j.exis.2022.101083

Athanasiou, F. & Photis, N. Y. (2004). Combinatorial locational analysis of public services in metropolitan areas. Case study in the city of Volos, Greece. *44th Congress of the European Regional Science Association: Regions and Fiscal Federalism*, 25th - 29th August 2004, Porto, Portugal. European Regional Science Association (ERSA), Louvain-la-Neuve

Babbie, E. (2012). *The Basics of Social Research*, 6<sup>th</sup> ed. Canada: Wadsworth. ISBN: 978-1-133-60759-5

Balaji, L. & Muthukannan, M. (2021). Investigation into valuation of land using remote sensing GIS in Madurai, Tamilnadu, India. *European Journal of Remote Sensing*, 5(2), pp. 167-175. DOI: 10.1080/22797254.2020.1772118

Beins, C., B. & McCarthy, A., M (2012). *Research Methods and Statistics*. United States of America: Pearson Education Inc. ISBN: 978-0-205-62409-6

Bencure, J. C., Tripathi, N. K., Miyazaki, H. Ninsawat, S. & Kim, S. M. (2019). Development of an innovative land valuation model (iLVM) for mass appraisal application in sub-urban areas using AHP: An integration of theoretical and practical approaches. *Sustainability*, 11(13), 3731. DOI: 10.3399/su11133731

Berawi, M. A., Miraj, P., Saroji, G. & Sari, M. (2020). Impact of rail transit station proximity to commercial property prices: Utilizing big data in urban real estate. *Journal of Big Data*, 7(71). DOI: 10.1186/s40537-020-00348-z

Bourassa, S. C., Hoesli, M. & Sun, J. (2005). The price of aesthetic externalities. *Journal of Real Estate Literature*, 13(2), pp. 167-187. DOI: 10.1080/10835547.2005.12090160

Bovkir, R. & Aydinoglu, A. C. (2018). Providing land value information from geographic data infrastructure by using fuzzy logic analysis approach. *Land Use Policy*, 78, pp. 46-60. DOI: 10.1016/j.landusepol.2018.06.040

Bryman, A (2012). Social Research Methods (4th edition). Oxford University Press. ISBN: 978-0-19-958805-3

Butler, A., Brussel, M., Maarseveen, M. & Koorey, G. (2019). Stakeholder-based assessment: Multiple criteria analysis for designing cycle routes for different target populations. In: Maarseveen, M., Martinez, J. & Flacke, J. (eds.) *GIS in Sustainable Urban Planning and Management*. London: CRC Press, pp. 225-243. ISBN: 978-1-138-50555-1

Caprioli, C. & Bottero, M. (2021). Addressing complex challenges in transformations and planning: A fuzzy spatial multicriteria analysis for identifying suitable locations for urban infrastructures. *Land Use Policy*, 102, pp. 1-26. DOI: doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2020.105147

Cosimo, L. H., Martins, S. V. & Gleriani, J. M. (2021). Suggesting priority areas in the buffer zone of Serra do Brigadeiro state park for forest restoration compensatory to Bauxite mining in southeast Brazil. *Ecological Engineering*, 170, 106322. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoleng.2021.106322

D'Amato, M., Zrobek, S., Renigier-Bilozor, M., Walacik, M. & Mercadante, G. (2019). Valuing the effect of the change of zoning on underdeveloped land using fuzzy real option approach. *Land Use Policy*, 86, pp. 365-374. DOI: 10.1016/j.landusepol.2019.04.042

Dell' Ovo, M., Capolongo, S. & Oppio, A. (2018). Combining spatial analysis with MCDA for the siting of healthcare facilities. *Land Use Policy*, 76, pp. 634-644. DOI: 10.1016/j.landusepol.2018.02.044

Demetriou, D. (2018). Automating the land valuation process carried out in land consolidation schemes. *Land Use Policy*, 75, pp. 21-32. DOI: 10.1016/j.landusepol.2018.02.049

Dimopoulos, T. & Moulas, A. (2016). A proposal of a mass appraisal system in Greece with CAMA system: Evaluation GWR and MRA techniques in Thessaloniki municipality. *Open Geosciences*, 8(1). DOI:10.1515/geo-2016-0064

Ding. D., Wu, J., Zhu, S., Mu, Y. & Li, Y. (2021). Research on AHP-based fuzzy evaluation of urban green building planning. *Environmental Challenges*, 5. DOI: 10.1016/j.envc.2021.100305

Duany, A. & Steuteville, R. (2021). Defining the 15-minute City. *Public Square*. Available at: https://www.cnu.org/publicsquare/2021/02/08/defining-15-minute-city (Accessed: 10 July 2023)

Eastman, J. R., Jin, W., Kyem, P. A. & Toledano, J. (1995). Raster procedures for Multi-Criteria/Multi-Objective decisions. *Photogrammetric Engineering & Remote Sensing*, 61(5), pp. 539-547

Eastman, J. R. (1999). Multi-criteria evaluation and GIS. In: Longley, P. A., Goodchild, M. F., Maguire, D. J. & Rhind, D. W. (eds.) *Geographical Information Systems*, United States of America: John Willey & Sons, Inc., pp. 493-502. ISBN: 0471-32182-6

Elstat, (2011). B15. Κανονικές κατοικίες κατά περίοδο κατασκευής. Περιφερειακές Ενότητες, Δήμοι. *Hellenic Statistical Authority*. Available at: https://www.statistics.gr/el/ statistics/-/publication/SAM05/ELSTAT (Accessed: 10 July 2023)

Eren, E. & Katanalp, Y. (2022). Fuzzy-based GIS approach with new MCDC method for bike-sharing station site selection according to land types. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, 76. DOI: 10.1016/j.scs.2021.103434

Feizizadeh, B., Roodposhti, M. S., Jankowski, P. & Blaschke, T. (2014). A GIS-based extended fuzzy multi-criteria evaluation for landslide susceptibility mapping. *Computers & Geosciences*, 73, pp. 208-221. DOI: 10.1016/j.cageo.2014.08.001

Foroozesh, F., Monavari, S. M., Salmanmahiny, A., Robati, M. & Rahimi, R. (2022). Assessment of sustainable urban development based on a hybrid decision-making approach: Group fuzzy BWM, AHP, and TOPSIS-GIS. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, 76, 103402. DOI: 10.1016/j.scs.2021.103402

Franek, J. & Kresta, A. (2014). Judgment Scales and Consistency Measure in AHP. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 12, pp. 164-173. DOI: 10.1016/S2212-5671(14)00332-3

Gat, D. (1998). Urban focal points and design quality influence rents: the case of the Tel Aviv office market. *The Journal of Real Estate Research*, 16(2), pp. 229-247. DOI: 10.1080/10835547.1998.12090945

Goepel, K. (2013). AHP – High Consistency Ratio. *BPMSG*. Available at: https://bpmsg.com/ ahp-high-consistency-ratio (Accessed: 10 June 2023)

Gomes, E. G. & Lins, M. P. E. (2002). Integrating geographical information Systems and multi-criteria methods: A case study. *Annals of Operations Research*, 116, pp. 243-269. DOI: 10.1023/A:1021344700828

Gorsevski, P. V., Donevska, K. R., Mitrovski, C. D. & Frizado, J. P. (2012). Integrating multicriteria evaluation techniques with geographic information systems for landfill site selection

Hsieh, T. Y., Lu, S. T. & Tzeng, G.H. (2004). Fuzzy MCDM approach for planning and design tenders selection in public office buildings. *International Journal of Management*, 22, pp. 573-584. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijproman.2004.01.002

Ignatius, A. (2021). GIS Module 5: Data sources. Available at: https://storymaps.arcgis.com/ stories/83db1ee75ab240ab8ab3e14ae90ce4d3 (Accessed: 10 July 2023)

Jahanshahi, D., Minaei, M., Kharazmi, O. A. & Minaei, F. (2019). Evaluation and relocating bicycle sharing stations in Mashhad city using multi-criteria analysis. *International Journal of Transportation Engineering*, 6(3), pp. 265-283. DOI: 10.22119/ijte.2018.96377.1365

Jeong, J. S., Garcia-Moruno, L. & Hernandez-Blanco, J. (2013). A site planning approach for rural buildings into landscape using a spatial multi-criteria decision analysis methodology. *Land Use Policy*, 32. DOI: 10.1016/j.landusepol.2012.09.018

Kazemi, H., Sadeghi, S. & Akinci, H. (2016). Developing a land evaluation model for faba bean cultivation using geographic information system and multi-criteria analysis (a case study: Gonbad-Kavous region, Iran). *Ecological Indicators*, 63, pp. 37-47. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecolind. 2015.11.021

Kepaptsoglou, K., Karlaftis, M. G. & Gkountis, J. (2013). A fuzzy AHP model for assessing the condition of Metro stations. *KSCE Journal of Civil Engineering*, 17(5), pp. 1109-1116. DOI: 10.1007/s12205-013-0411-0

Kimpel, J. T., Dueker, J. K. & El-Geneidy, M. A. (2007). Using GIS to measure the effect of overlapping service areas on passenger boardings at bus stops. *URISA Journal*, 19(1), pp. 5-11

Kothari, C. R. (2004). *Research Methodology: Methods & Techniques*. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. New Delhi: New Age International Ltd. ISBN: 978-81-224-2488-1

Krecji, J. (2018). *Pairwise Comparison Matrices and their Fuzzy Extension*. Springer International Publishing, AG. ISBN: 978-3-319-77715-3

Le Pira, M., Inturri, G., Ignaccolo, M. & Pluchino, A. (2015). Analysis of AHP methods and the Pairwise Majority Rule (PMR) for collective preference rankings of sustainable mobility solutions. *Transportation Research Procedia*, 10, pp. 777-787. DOI: 10.1016/j.trpro.2015.09.031

Leavy, P. (2017). *Research Design*. United States of America: The Guilford Press. ISBN: 978-1-4625-1438-0

Lopez, V., Santos Penas, M. & Montero, J. (2010). Fuzzy specification in real estate market decision making. *International Journal of Computational Intelligence Systems*, 3(1), pp. 8-20. DOI: 10.1080/18756891.2010.9727673

Lotfi, S., Habibi, K. & Koohsari, M. J. (2009). An analysis of urban development using multi-criteria decision model and geographical information system (a case study of Babolsar city). *American Journal of Sciences*, 5(1), pp. 87-93. DOI: 10.3844/ajessp.2009.87.93

Malczewski, J. (1999). *GIS and Multicriteria Decision Analysis*. United States of America: John Willey & Sons, Inc. ISBN: 0-471-32944-4

Malczewski, J. (2004). GIS-based land-use suitability analysis: a critical overview. *Progress in Planning*, 62(1), pp. 3-65. DOI: 10.1016/j.progress.2003.09.002

Malczewski, J. & Rinner, C. (2015). *Multicriteria Decision Analysis in Geographic Information Science*. New York: Springer. ISBN: 978-3-540-74757-4

Mete, O. M. & Yomralioglu, T. (2019). Creation of nominal asset value-based maps using GIS: A case study of Istanbul Beyoglu and Gaziosmanpasa districts. *GI Forum 2019*, 7(2), pp. 98-112. DOI: 10.1553/giscience2019\_02\_s98

Mittal, J. & Byahut, S. (2016). Value capitalization effects of golf courses, waterfronts, parks, open spaces, and green landscapes – a cross-disciplinary review. *The Journal of Sustainable Real Estate*, 8(1), pp. 62-94. DOI: 10.1080/10835547.2016.12091887

Mosadeghi, P., Warnken, J., Tomlinson, R. & Mirfenderesk, H. (2015). Comparison of Fuzzy-AHP and AHP in spatial multi-criteria decision-making model for urban land-use planning. *Computers, environment and Urban Systems* 49, pp. 54-65. DOI: 10.1016/j.compenvurbsys.2014.10.001

Mrowczynska, M., Skiba, M., Sztubecka, M., Bazan-Krzywoszanska, A., Kazak, J.K. & Gajownik, P. (2021). Scenarios as a tool supporting decisions in urban energy policy: The analysis using fuzzy logic, multi-criteria analysis and GIS tools. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 137, 110598. DOI: 10.1016/j.ser.2020.110598

Noorollahi, Y., Senani, A. G., Fadaei, A. & Simaee, M. (2022). A framework for GIS-based site selection and technical potential evaluation of PV solar farm using Fuzzy-Boolean logic and AHP multi-criteria decision-making approach. *Renewable Energy*, 186, pp. 89-104. DOI: 10.1016/j.renene.2021.12.124

Oliveira, V. & Pinho, P. (2010). Evaluation in urban planning: Advances and prospects. *Journal of Planning Literature*, 24(3), pp. 343-361. DOI: 10.1177/088541221036459

Omidipoor, M., Jelokhani-Niaraki, M. & Samany, N. N. (2019). A web-based geo-marketing decision support system for land selection: a case study of Tehran, Iran. *Annals of GIS*, 25(2), pp. 179-193. DOI: 10.1080/19475683.2019.1575905

Oppio, A., Buffoli, M., Dell'Ovo, M. & Capolongo, S. (2016). Addressing decisions about new hospitals' siting: A multidimensional evaluation approach. *Ann Ist Super Sanita*, 52(1), pp. 78-87. DOI: 10.4415/ANN\_16\_01\_14

Pagourtzi, E., Nikolopoulos, K. & Assimakopoulos, V. (2005). Architecture for real estate analysis information system using GIS techniques integrated with fuzzy theory. *Journal of Property Investment & Finance*, 24(1), pp. 68-78. DOI: 10.1108/14635780610642971

Pasalari, H., Nodehi, R. N., Mahvi, A. H., Yaghmaeian, K. & Charrahi, Z. (2019). Landfill site selection using a hybrid system of AHP-Fuzzy in GIS environments: A case study in Shiraz city, Iran. *MethodsX*, 6, pp. 1454-1466. DOI: 10.1016/j.mex.2019.06.009

Podor, A. & Nyiri, J. (2010). GIS application in real estate investment. *Scientific Journal of Riga Technical University*, 10, pp. 94-99. ISSN: 1407-7337

Raad, N. G., Rajendran, S. & Salimi, S. (2022). A novel three-stage fuzzy GIS-MCDA approach to the dry port site selection problem: A case study of Shahid Rajaei port in Iran. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 168, 108112. DOI: 10.1016/j.cie.2022.108112

Rahimi, F., Goli, A. & Rezaee, R. (2017). Hospital location-allocation in Shiraz using geographical information systems (GIS). *Shiraz E-Medical Journal*, 18(8). DOI: 10.5812/ semj.57572

Reed, R. & Pettit, C. (eds.) (2019). *Real Estate and GIS: The Application of Mapping Technologies*. Oxford and New York: Routledge. ISBN: 978-1-138-18797-9

Renigier-Bilozor, M., Bilozor, A. & D'Amato, M. (2017). Residential market ratings using fuzzy logic decision-making procedures. *Economic Research*, 31(1), pp. 1758-1787. DOI: 10.1080/1331677X.2018.1484785

Saaty, T. L. (2006). There is no mathematical validity for using fuzzy number crunching in the analytic hierarchy process. *Journal of Systems Science and Systems Engineering*, 15(4), pp. 457-464. DOI: 10.1007/s11518-006-5021-7

Saaty, T. L. (1990). How to make a decision: The analytic hierarchy process. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 48(1), pp. 9-26. DOI: 10.1016/0377-2217(90)90057-1

Sedogo, L. G. & Groten, S. M. (2002). Integration of local participatory and regional planning: A GIS data aggregation procedure. *GeoJournal*, 56, pp. 69-81.

Sekaran, U (2003). *Research Methods for Business: A Skill Building Approach (4th edition)*. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. United States of America. ISBN: 0-471-20366-1

Starcek, S. & Subic Kovac, S. (2019). Spatial data quality impact on the efficiency of the property tax system: The case of construction land fees. *Urbani Izziv*, 30(1), pp. 87-100. DOI: 10.5379/urbani-izziv-en-2019-30-01-002

Thrall, I. G. & Marks, P. A. (1993). Functional requirements of a Geographic Information System for performing real estate research and analysis. *Journal of Real Estate Literature*, 1(1), pp. 49-61

Thrall, I. G. (1998). Common geographic errors of real estate analysts. *Journal of Real Estate Literature*, 6(1), pp. 45-54.

Tsiotas, K. D., Kalantzi, S. O. & Gavardinas, D. I. (2017). Accessibility assessment of urban mobility: the case of Volos, Greece. *Transportation Research Procedia 24*, pp. 499-506. DOI: 10.1016/j.trpro.2017.05.089

Vahidinia, M. H., Alesheikh, A. A. & Alimohammadi, A. (2009). Hospital site selection using fuzzy AHP and its derivatives. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 90, pp. 3048-3056. DOI: 10.1016/j.envman.2009.04.010

Vernon-Bido, D., Collins, A. J., Sokolowski, J. & Seiler, M. J. (2017). The effect of neighbourhood density and GIS layout on the foreclosure contagion effect. *Journal of Housing Research*, 26(2), pp. 137-156. DOI: 10.1080/10835547.2017.12092132

Viana, M. S. & Delgado, J. P. (2019). City logistics in historic centers: Multi-criteria evaluation in GIS for city of Salvador (Bahia – Brazil). *Case Studies on Transport Policy*, 7, pp. 772-780. DOI: 10.1016/j.cstp.2019.08.004

Wallner, R. (2012). GIS measures of residential property views. *Journal of Real Estate Literature*, 20(2), pp. 225-244. DOI: 10.1080/10835547.2014.12090338

Wofford, E. L. & Thrall, G. (1997). Real estate problem solving and Geographic Information Systems: A stage model of reasoning. *Journal of Real Estate Literature*, 5(2), pp. 177-201

Yalpir, S. (2014). Forecasting residential real estate values with AHP method and integrated GIS. *International Scientific Conference of People, Buildings and Environment*, 2014, Kromeriz, Czech Republic. Conference Proceedings, pp. 694-706. ISSN: 1805-6784

# **APPENDIX I**

Auxiliary Tables

#	Authors	Year	· Sector	The me	Key Methods	Country
1	Eren & Katanalp	2022	Urban development	Bike-sharing stations	MCDM, AHP, fuzzy AHP	Turkey
2	Foroozesh et al.	2022	Real estate analysis	Urban development potential	MCDA, AHP, fuzzy AHP	Iran
Э	Raad et al.	2022	Real estate development	Dryport selection	MCDA, fuzzy-logic	Iran
4	Caprioli & Bottero	2021	Urban planning	Identify suitable locations for urban infrastructure	AHP, fuzzy AHP, MCDA	Italy
5	Ding et al.	2021	Urban planning	Urban green building planning	Fuzzy-AHP	China
9	Bencure et al.	2019	Real estate valuation	Mass land value appraisal	MCDA, AHP	Thailand
L	Jahanshahi et al.	2019	Urban development	Bike-sharing stations	MCDA, fuzzy-memberships, AHP	Iran
8	Mete & Yomrlioglu	2019	Real estate valuation	Mass real estate valuation	MCDM, best-worst method	Turkey
6	Sgura Viana & Delgado	2019	Urban planning	City logistics in historic centers	MCE-GIS	Brasil
10	Dell' Ovo et al.	2018	Land-uses	Healthcare facilities site selection	MCDA-GIS, multicriteria DSS	Italy
11	Rahimi et al.	2017	Land-uses	Hospital site selection	GIS-AHP	Iran
12	Oppio et al.	2016	Land-uses	Hospital site selection	GIS-MCDA	Italy
13	La Pira et al.	2015	Transportation	AHP methods assessment	AHP, pairwise comparisons	Italy
14	Mosadeghi et al.	2015	Urban planning	Urban land-use	MCDA, AHP, fuzzy AHP	Australia
15	Jeong et al.	2013	Spatial planning	Rural spatial planning	MCE, AHP, fuzzy memberships	Spain
16	Kepaptsogou et al.	2013	Transportation	Metro stations condition	AHP, fuzzy AHP	Greece
17	Lotfi et al.	2009	Urban land use	Urban land development	MCDM	Iran
18	Vahadinia et al.	2009	Land-uses	Hospital site selection	Fuzzy AHP, MCDA-GIS	Iran
19	Kimpel et al.	2007	Urban transport	Bus stops planning	GIS, fuzzy-memberships	NSA
20	Gomes & Lins	2002	MCE and GIS	GIS and MCE/MCDM integration	Theoretical analysis	Brazil
$L_{l}$	inked to: Chapters 2 an	d 3 (se	sction 3.2)			

Table I. 1 - Selected cases of GIS integration with real estate and spatial planning
Spatial Criteria	Authors
Commercial/City centre	Gat, 1998; Dimopoulos & Moulas, 2017; Jahanshahi et al., 201; ; Mete & Yomralioglu, 2019; Chen et al., 2020; Foroozesh et al., 2022
Cultural facilities	Podor & Nyiri, 2010; Bovkir & Aydinoglu, 2018; Mete & Yomralioglu, 2019; Foroozesh et al., 2022
Educational facilities	Pagourtzi et al., 2005; Podor & Nyiri, 2010; Jahanshahi et al., 201; ; Omidipoor et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2020; Sisman & Aydinogh, 2022
Forest	Bourassa et al., 2005; Mittal & Byahut (2016)
Health facilities	Podor & Nyiri, 2010; Yalpir, 2014; Mete & Yonnalioglu, 2019; Bovkir & Aydinoglu, 2018; Sisman & Aydinoglu, 2022b; Chen et al., 2020
Hospitals	Dimopoulos & Moulas, 2017; Bovkir & Aydinogh, 2018; Bencure et al., 2019; Foroozesh et al., 2022
Parks & squares	Pagourtzi et al., 2005; Mittal & Byahut, 2016; Dimopoulos & Moulas, 2017; Bovkir & Aydinoglu, 2018; Omidipoor et al., 2019; Mete & Yomralioglu, 2019; Chen et al., 2020; Foroozesh et al., 2022; Sisman & Aydinoglu, 2022
Major roads	Lotfi et al., 2009; Jeong et al., 2013; Yalpir, 2014; Dimopoulos & Moulas, 2017; Demetriou, 2018; Bencure et al., 2019; Mete & Yomralioglu, 2019; Chen et al., 2020; Raad et al., 2022; Sisman & Aydinoglu, 2022
Public services	Podor & Nyiri, 2010; Bovkir & Aydinoglu, 2018; Chen et al., 2020
Public transportation	Gat, 1998; Bourassa et al., 2005; Podor & Nyiri, 2010; Dimopoulos & Moulas, 2017; Bovkir & Aydinoglu, 2018; Jahanshahi et al., 201; ; Mete & Yonralioglu, 2019; Omidipoor et al., 2019; Sisman & Aydinoglu, 2022; Chen et al., 2020; Balaji & Muthukannan, 2021;
	Foroozesh et al., 2022
Recreation facilities	Pagourtzi et al., 2005; Omidipoor et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2020; Sisman & Aydinoglu, 2022
Schools	Bourassa et al., 2005; Pagourtzi et al., 2005; Yalpir, 2014; Dimopoulos & Moulas, 2017; Bencure et al., 2019; Mete & Yomralioglu, 2019; Foroozesh et al., 2022
View	Wallher, 2012; Pagourtzi et al., 2005; Mittal & Byahut, 2016; Mete & Yomrclioglu, 2019
Waterfront, seaview	Bourassa et al., 2005; Pagourtzi et al., 2005; Mittal & Byahut, 2016; Dimopoulos & Moulas, 2017; Demetriou, 2018; Bencure et al., 2019; Mete & Yonralioglu, 2019
Linked to: Chapter 4 (s	ction 4.2)

Table I. 2 - Commonly used spatial criteria

					COMMERCIAL LAND-USES	
Criteria	Distance from	Mid-point (Xo)	К	f(x) = 0.2	Tolerance (up to)	Comments
Commercial/City Centre	Point	600	0.02	669.3	Medium walking distance	From the Volos City central square
Major Roads	Road axis	70	0.15	79.2	Direct access, short walking distance	Major roads with high commercial activity
Public Transportation	Points	200	0.03	246.2	Direct access or short walk	Bus stop junctions (more than two bus lines meeting)
Public Services	Points or area	400	0.02	469.3	Medium walking distance	Frequently used public services i.e. citizens' service centres, courthouses, post office
Seafront/Port view	Polygon bounds	N/A	N/A	N/A	Direct access or line-of-sight	Direct access to the waterfront promenade and unobstructed sea view
Parks and Squares	Polygon bounds	N/A	$\mathbf{W}/\mathbf{W}$	N/A	Direct access or line-of-sight	Organised open spaces, including forest zone and seafront (no undeveloped lands)
Recreation Areas/Facil.	Points or area	300	0.03	346.2	Medium walking distance	Activities junctions (cultural, sports, tourist etc.)
					OFFICES	
Criteria	Distance from	Mid-point (Xo)	Х	f(x) = 0.2	Tolerance (up to)	Comments
Commercial/City Centre	Polygon bounds	002	0.012	815.5	Medium to long walking distance	From the Volos City central square
Major Roads	Road axis	150	0.04	184.7	Direct access or short walking distance	National road junctions included
Public Transportation	Points	350	0.02	419.3	Direct access or short walking distance	Bus stop junctions (more than two bus lines meeting)
Public Services	Points or area	500	0.01	638.6	Medium walking distance	Frequently used public services i.e. citizens' service centres, courthouses, post office
Seafront/Port view	Polygon bounds	N/A	V/N	N/A	Direct access or line-of-sight	Direct access to the waterfront promenade and unobstructed sea view
Parks and Squares	Polygon bounds	150	0.03	196.2	Direct access or short walking distance	Organised open spaces, including forest zone and seafront (no undeveloped lands)
Recreation Areas/Facil	Points or area	200	0.03	246.2	Direct access or short walking distance	Activities junctions (cultural, sports, tourist etc.)
					RESIDENTIAL	
Criteria	Distance from	Mid-point (Xo)	K	f(x) = 0.2	Tolerance (up to)	Comments
Bus stops	Points	300	0.02	369.3	Short walking distance	All bus stops included
Education Facilities	Points	500	0.015	592.4	Medium walking distance	School combos with Gymnasium and Lyceum in same facility or in close proximity
Parks and Squares	Polygon bounds	300	0.02	369.3	Short walking distance	Organised open spaces, including forest zone and seafront (no undeveloped lands)
Health Facilities	Points	400	0.01	538.6	Medium walking distance	City hospital and private clinics
Recreation Areas/Facililities	Points or area	500	0.015	592.4	Medium walking distance	Activities junctions (cultural, sports, tourist etc.)
University	Points	600	0.01	738.6	Medium to long walking distance	Main university infrastructures i.e. lecture halls, library, public student residence halls
Public Services	Area	500	0.01	638.6	Medium walking distance	Frequently used public services i.e. citizens' service centres, courthouses, post office
Linked to: Chapter	4 (section 4.5	5.1)				
Notes:						
Mid-point $x_0$ values	s in meters:					
Column " $f(x) = 0.2$	" gives the di	istance (in m	eters)	from the	criterion source after which	h suitability $f(x)$ drops below 0.2, and towards zeroing out;
Setting the sigmoid	barameters	$x_{0}$ and K was	loose	elv based	on the "15-minute city" urb	an planning concept (see e.g. Duanv & Steuteville, 2021).
where necessary da	ily activities	and services	can b	e access	ed within a radius of 15-min	nute walking, cycling or using public transportation.

Table I. 3 – Parameters for suitability criteria sigmoids (s-curves)

Spatial Criteria	Retail	Offices	Residential
Bus Stops	25	20	20
Commercial Center			
Education Facilities			25
Health Facilities			20
Major Roads	20	20	
National Railroad			
National Road	15		
Parks and Squares	15		10
Port Front	10	15	
Public Services		20	
Recreation Areas		15	10
University	15	10	15
Sums	100	100	100

Instructions Allocate a total of <u>100 points</u> to 6 criteria. You may allocate points to different criteria per property class. Please consider these criteria in spatial terms i.e. distance from / proximity to / view on

Extren

 Table I. 4 - Example of completed Ratings scoreboard

Linked to: Chapter 4 (section 4.4)

			PAIRWISE COM	MPARISON MATRI	X - OFFICES		
Α	В	Priority	Score	Α	В	Priority	Score
	Major Roads	В	5		Public Transportation*	В	3
	Public Transportation*	В	3		Public Services	Α	6
Commercial / City	Public Services	Α	5	Major Roads	Seafront/Port View	А	1
Centre	Seafront/Port View	В	5		Parks, Squares**	Α	7
	Parks, Squares**	Α	5		Recreational Facilities***	А	2
	Recreational Facil.***	А	1		•		•
A	В	Priority	Score	A	В	Priority	Score
	Public Services	А	7		Seafront/Port View	В	7
Public	Seafront/Port View	В	3	Public Services	Parks, Squares**	А	3
Transportation*	Parks, Squares**	Α	7		Recreational Facil.***	В	5
	Recreational Facil.***	Α	1				
Α	В	Priority	Score	Α	В	Priority	Score
Carlout diam	Parks, Squares**	Α	7	Parks, Squares**	Recreational Facilities***	В	5
Searont view	Recreational Facil.***	Α	2				
* Mainly Bus Stops (f	for Volos)					Comp. Score	Importance
** Including Open Spa	aces of any kind					1	Equal
*** Areas with Bars, o	cafeterias, food, swimming pools	, spas/saunas,	tennis, playgrounds, gyms	, entertainment, culture e	tc.	2	Equal to moderate
						3	Moderate
						4	Moderate to strong
						5	Strong
						6	Strong to very strong
						7	Very strong
						8	Very to extremely strong

Table I. 5 - Example of completed pairwise comparison matrix (for Offices land-use)

#### Note on table I.5:

For the pairwise matrices (PCMs) the real estate experts that participated in the live interviews (see Chapter 4) were asked to compare criteria A and B in pairs and selected which one they considered as more important. Then they were asked to decide on the relative important on a scale of 1 to 9 (how much more important the selected criterion was). These PCMs were then used to calculate the consolidated PCMs shown in table I.7

	R	etail/Commerc	ial	
Spatial Criteria	Rank	Ratio Scale	Orig. Wght	Norm. Wght
Commercial Center	1	290	4.46	31.9%
Major Roads	2	205	3.15	22.5%
Bus Stops	3	105	1.62	11.5%
Public Services	4	90	1.38	9.9%
Recreation Areas	5	90	1.38	9.9%
Port Front	6	65	1.00	7.1%
Parks and Squares	7	65	1.00	7.1%
University	8	40	N/A	N/A
Education Facilities	9	30	N/A	N/A
National Road	10	15	N/A	N/A
Health Facilities	11	5	N/A	N/A
National Railroad	12	0	N/A	N/A
		Offices	-	
Spatial Criteria	Rank	Ratio Scale	Orig. Wght	Norm. Wght
Major Roads	1	225	4.09	24.6%
Commercial Center	2	195	3.55	21.3%
Bus Stops	3	165	3.00	18.0%
Public Services	4	150	2.73	16.4%
Seafront/Port View	5	65	1.18	7.1%
Recreation Areas	6	60	1.09	6.6%
Parks and Squares	7	55	1.00	6.0%
Health Facilities	8	55	N/A	N/A
Education Facilities	9	15	N/A	N/A
University	10	10	N/A	N/A
National Road	11	5	N/A	N/A
National Railroad	12	0	N/A	N/A
		Residential		
Spatial Criteria	Rank	Ratio Scale	Orig. Wght	Norm. Wght
Education Facilities	1	200	3.33	22.2%
Parks and Squares	2	190	3.17	21.1%
Bus Stops	3	160	2.67	17.8%
Recreation Areas	4	125	2.08	13.9%
Health Facilities	5	90	1.50	10.0%
University	6	75	1.25	8.3%
Public Services	7	60	1.00	6.7%
Major Roads	8	50	N/A	N/A
Commercial Center	9	50	N/A	N/A
Seafront View	10	0	N/A	N/A
National Road	11	0	N/A	N/A
National Railroad	12	0	N/A	N/A

Table I. 6 - Consolidated Ratings scores and criteria weights

#### Note:

These tables regard the consolidation of the scoreboards provided by the real estate experts during stage I, as described in Chapter 4 (section 4.5.2). The seven criteria that got the highest scores were kept and got weights. All rating scores were summed per criterion (Ratio Scale) and the normalised weights were calculated following the process described in Malczewski (1999, pp. 181-182)

				THOU MALE IN TO STOOL				2	и	
Crotial Critoria	Comman in 1/Citry Cantas	Maior/Commercial Deade	Descriptional Association	Dukle Tenenorthion	Duble Continue	Dorle & Conness	Conferent Viere	1 2 2 4 5 6 7	Waidate C1 C2 C2	-
Spatial Criteria			Necleauoliai Areas/Facil.	ruone riansportation	ruolic activices	rarks & squares	2 2 A	1 2 3 4 3 0 / 0 / 0 / 0 / 0 / 0 / 0 / 0 / 0 / 0	72 12 27 27 27	-
	0.10	+ 20	00:7	7-14	5/12	0.00	9.45	0.34 0.30 0.33 0.33 0.27 0.23 0.29	0.120 1.20 7.20	1
	05.0	1.00	1.20	1.01	4.50	7.51	2.48	81.0 61.0 07.0 c7.0 61.0 c1.0 01.0	0.180 1.32 7.32	1
Recreational Areas/Facil	0.40	0.74	1.00	0.86	3.17	3.24	2.07	0.14 0.11 0.14 0.13 0.15 0.21 0.15	0.147 1.07 7.27	
Public Transportation	0.47	0.62	1.16	1.00	4.47	3.33	2.31	0.16 0.09 0.16 0.15 0.21 0.22 0.17	0.166 1.20 7.22	n 7
Public Services	0.17	0.23	0.32	0.22	1.00	0.60	0.91	0.06 0.03 0.04 0.03 0.05 0.04 0.07	0.046 0.33 7.14	λ 7.40
Parks & Squares	0.26	0.34	0.31	0.30	1.66	1.00	1.80	0.09 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.08 0.06 0.13	0.072 0.51 7.08	CI 0.066
Seafront View	0.31	0.40	0.48	0.43	1.09	0.56	1.00	0.11 0.06 0.07 0.07 0.05 0.04 0.07	0.066 0.47 7.18	RI 1.32
Sums	2.91	6.67	7.13	6.57	21.49	15.49	13.81	1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00	1.00	CR 5.00%
								-		
			USNUJ - SAJIAJU	TIDATED DOM				Storn 1	Stan II Stan III Stan IV	
			DEFICES - CONSU	PLED FUN	C - C - AD - A M	D1-0 0	D		T date III date II date	1
Spatial Crite na	Commercial/City Center	Major/Commencel Koads	Public Iransportation	Public Services	Seafront/Port View	Parks & Squares	Kecreational Areas/Facil.	1 2 3 4 5 6 /	Weights SI S2	1
Commercial/City Center	1.00	160	0.62	0.99	1.78	2.66	2.03	0.16 0.20 0.15 0.11 0.17 0.17 0.18	0.165 1.16 7.05	-1
Major/Commerical Roads	1.10	1.00	0.89	1.96	2.58	3.39	2.72	0.18 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.25 0.22 0.25	0.222 1.57 7.06	_1
Public Transportation	1.61	1.12	1.00	2.53	2.24	3.89	2.29	0.26 0.24 0.25 0.29 0.22 0.25 0.21	0.245 1.73 7.06	
Public Services	1.01	0.51	0.40	1.00	1.11	1.85	1.06	0.16 0.11 0.10 0.11 0.11 0.12 0.10	0.115 0.82 7.06	n 7
Seafront/Port View	0.56	0.39	0.45	06.0	1.00	1.36	1.30	0.09 0.08 0.11 0.10 0.10 0.09 0.12	0.099 0.70 7.06	λ 7.06
Parks & Squares	0.38	0.29	0.26	0.54	0.74	1.00	0.64	0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.07 0.06 0.06	0.063 0.45 7.06	CI 0.010
Recreational Areas/Facil	0.49	0.37	0.44	0.95	0.77	1 55	1 00	0.08 0.08 0.11 0.11 0.08 0.10 0.09	0.091 0.64 7.05	RI 132
Sums	6.16	4 50	4.05	8.87	10.01	15.71	11.04	1 00 1 00 1 00 1 00 1 00 1 00	1.00	CB 0 77%
	0110	COLT.	200°E	1000	17:01	11:01	10111		0.014	
										ı
			RESIDENTIAL - CON	SOLIDATED PCM			-	Step I	Step II Step II Step IV	-
Spatial Crite ria	Education Facilities	Parks & Squares	Public Transportation	Recreational Facilities	Health Facilities	University	Public Services	1 2 3 4 5 6 7	Weights S1 S2	
Education Facilities	1.00	1.46	0.98	1.78	1.99	2.60	2.86	0.22 0.30 0.23 0.22 0.19 0.16 0.11	0.203 1.49 7.32	
Parks & Squares	0.68	1.00	1.09	1.96	2.15	3.68	5.46	0.15 0.21 0.25 0.24 0.21 0.22 0.21	0.212 1.56 7.37	1
Public Transportation	1.02	0.92	1.00	2.39	2.85	3.27	5.13	0.23 0.19 0.23 0.29 0.27 0.20 0.19	0.229 1.69 7.40	
Recreational Facilities	0.56	0.51	0.42	1.00	1.87	2.57	5.24	0.12 0.11 0.10 0.12 0.18 0.16 0.20	0.140 1.03 7.39	n 7
Health Facilities	0.50	0.47	0.35	0.53	1.00	2.99	4.50	0.11 0.10 0.08 0.06 0.10 0.18 0.17	0.114 0.83 7.27	λ 7.40
University	0.38	0.27	0.31	0.39	0.33	1.00	2.37	0.09 0.06 0.07 0.05 0.03 0.06 0.09	0.063 0.45 7.18	CI 0.067
Public Services	0.35	0.18	0.20	0.19	0.22	0.42	1.00	0.08 0.04 0.04 0.02 0.02 0.03 0.04	0.038 0.27 7.09	RI 1.32
Sums	4.50	4.81	4.34	8.25	10.41	16.53	26.56	1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00	1.00	CR 5.09%
Calculation F	xamnle.									
Step I (for th	te I <sub>3,4</sub> ): (2.39	$\div 8.25) = 0$	.289							
Sten II (for th	e W <sub>3</sub> ): (0.23	+ 0.19 + 0.2	3 + 0.29 + 0.2	27 + 0.20 +	$0.19) \div 7 =$	0.229				
										( ,
Step III (for th	le S1 <sub>3</sub> ): (1.02	* 0.203) + (L	.92 * 0.212)	+ (T.UU * U.Z		* 0.14) + (2.	85 * 0.114) -	+ (3.27 * 0.063) + (3.27)	3 * 0.038) =	= 1.69
Step IV (for S.	(1.69) (1.69)	÷ 0.229) =	7.37							
		· ·	C0 17	.10	· ·	-	1. 1			
<i>n</i> is the numbe	r of criteria; λ	is the maxim	um of the S <sub>2</sub> e	elements; C/ 18	the consisten	cy index calc	ulated as <i>CI</i> =	$= (\eta - n) \div (n - 1)$		
<i>RI</i> is the randc	m index based	1 on randomly	generated PCi	Ms of the sam	le size i.e. for	n=7 RI=1.32	; CR is the con	nsistency ratio calculated	l as $CR = C$	$\div RI$
								•		,
Note: Table I.	7 regards the $c$	consolidation (	of the pairwise	comparison 1	natrices (PCN	Is) filled-in du	uring live inte	rviews based on scorebc	ards provided	by the
real estate exp	erts during sta	ige I, as descr	ibed in Chapte	r 4 (sections 4	4.2 and 4.5.2).	The seven ci	iteria that got	the highest scores (see	l'able I.6) we	re used
for the PCMs.	. Unteria weig	ghts were calc	culated follow	ing the proces	ss described b	y Malczewsk	u (1999, pp. )	183-18/). Table 1.8 (nex	tt page) was	tormed
using the non-	fuzzy PCM sc	ores (value m	) and by decre	asing (lower v	alue l) and inc	reasing (uppe	er value <i>u</i> ) by	a 1 ( $f=I$ ). For details see	section 4.5.2	

Table I. 7 - Consolidated pairwise comparison matrices and criteria weights

$\frac{1}{100} \frac{1}{100} \frac{1}$	F	Commercial/City Center Ma	ion/Commo	ninal Doade	Dorro	MINEAU Marine	JAL - CU	NSOLID A	TED FUZ	ZY PCM	Duble	Cantinae	-	Darbe & S.	aeaetto		auffront Via			Cton	-			Stan II		Ston III
$\frac{1}{100} \frac{1}{100} \frac{1}$	1		ajor/comme	ncal Koads	- Kecre	m m	as/Facil.	Lubic	I ransporta	uon =	Lublic	m n	-	rarks & 5	quares	-	m m	=		orep 1		-	F	Diep II	-	Centre of Ars
$\frac{1}{1000} \frac{1}{1000} \frac{1}{1000$		1.00 1.00 1.00 2.	18 3.34	4.42	2.09	2.50	3.71	1.72	2.14	3.02	4.68 5	.75 6.7	70 3.0.	2 3.86	5.04	2.48	3.24	3.70	r.	2.23	2.78 3	3.48	w1 0.3	359 0.3250	0.3186	BNP1 0.32
$\frac{\left[\frac{1}{100} + \frac{1}{100} + $		0.23 0.30 0.46 1.	.00 1.00	1.00	0.94	1.36	1.82	1.13	1.61	2.41	3.21 4	.36 5.4	44 1.9	8 2.90	9.05	1.83	2.48	3.24	r2	1.16	1.54 2	2.03	w2 0.1	745 0.1801	0.1862	BNP2 0.18
$\frac{\left  \frac{1}{12} + \frac{1}$		0.27 0.40 0.48 0.	.55 0.74	1.07	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.73	0.86	1.32	2.48 3	.17 3.5	87 2.1	4 3.24	4 4.29	1.39	2.07	2.81	ω.	0.97	1.27	1.64	w3 0.1	460 0.1487 500 0.1550	0.1499	BNP3 0.14
$\frac{\left[\frac{1}{100} \frac{1}{100} $	-	0.55 0.17 0.21 0.	.41 0.02	0.31	0.76	0.32	0.40	0.18	0.22	0.30	1 00 1	00 1 6	10 0.4 10 0.4	4 0.60	0.78	0.71	16.0	5.29	ż Y	0.33	0.40 (	0.50	w5 0.0	0.0464 0.0464	0.0459	BNP4 0.10 BNP5 0.04
$\frac{\left[\frac{1}{20} + \frac{1}{20} + \frac{1}{$	-	0.20 0.26 0.33 0.	25 0.34	0.50	0.23	0.31	0.47	0.23	0.30	0.41	1.29 1	.66 2.2	27 1.0	0 1.00	1.00	1.30	1.80	2.36	r6	0.46	0.59 (	0.78	w6 0.0	0.0689 0.0689	0.0711	BNP6 0.06
$ \frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$		0.27 0.31 0.40 0. 745 7.91 3.47 4.	31 0.40 88 6.67	0.55	0.36	0.48	0.72	0.30	0.43	0.58	0.80 1	.09 1.4 49 26	40 0.4 17 11 4	15 0.50 15 46	5 0.77	100	13.81	1.00	r7	0.44 6.64	0.55 ( 8.55 1	0.92	w7 0.0	00 1.00	0.0657	BNP7 0.06
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	1				222			222		2	1	2		2		2					-					
$\frac{\left \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$					OFI	ICES - C	DINSOLIE	ATED FU	IZZY PCM													_				
$\frac{1}{100} \frac{1}{100} \frac{1}$	F	Commercial/City Center Ma	ajor/Commet	rical Roads	Publ	ic Transpo	rtation	Pubi	lic Services	-	Seafront	Port View	L	Parks & S	quares	Recr	cational Fa	cilities		Step				Step II		Step III
$\frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$	T	=	а -	=	-	E	=	-	E	=	_	=		E	=	-	E	=		-	E	=		2	-	Centre of Ars
$\frac{1}{10000} \frac{1}{10000} \frac{1}{100000} \frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$	T		100 09	1 20	0.12	0.67	0.01	220	0.00	1 2.7	1 00	78 22	10.	3 7 66	3 30	1 20	2.02	101	-	0.02	1 27	67	w1 0.1	111 0 1636	0.1620	DAID 1 0 16
$\begin{split} \frac{1}{10000} \frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$		0.77 1.10 1.61 1.6	00 1 00	1 00	0.67	0.80	1.26	1 23	1 06	716	- co -	58 2.4	10 22	1 2 30	440	121	CD - 2	3.51	: 5	2010	1 73	80.0		9666 0 891	0.2010	DID CINE
$\begin{split} \frac{1}{90} \frac{1}{90}$	T	110 161 232 07	73 1.17	1 40	100	1 00	1 00	1 96	2 52	2.60		20 20	10 21	2 00	106	1 40	2.20	2.12	4 9	1 20	101	02.0		02720 011	02720	DUD2 0.74
$\begin{split} \frac{1}{10} \frac{1}{10}$	T	0 7:1 101 100 0:1	120 20	200	001	0.40	1.00	1 00	1 00	001	7 000	17	14	201 0	97.F	300	101	1.01	C1 P1	0.17	10.0	2	10	76110 731	00010	110 C 110
$ \frac{1}{23} \frac{1}{25} $		0.10 1.01 1.00 0.0	10.0 00	220	17:0	0.45	40.0	1.00	0.00	1.32	1 00 1		10	-0-1	C+-7	61.0	001	10.1	ŧ,	10.0	20.0	71.1	T-0	051 0.000	0.1075	DNF4 0.11.
$\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}$	T	10 26:0 00:0 61:0 20 020 00:0	SC-0 47-	34.0	0000	20.0	70.0	+ 10	0.54	77.1	1 00.1	1 VI V2	N	001	CC-1		NC-1	00.7	<u></u>	10.0	1.1.0	00.1	T-0 C.M	1060.0 +00	0.0667	DINE 0.10
$ \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{2} \right) \left( \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{2} \right) \left( \frac{1}{2} \right) \left( \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{2} \right) \left( \frac{1}{2} \right) \left( \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{2} \right) \left( $	T	0.30 0.36 0.32 0.	57.0 77.	0.40	07.0	07.0	0000	14.0	0.04	0/0	0.02		1.L	1.1	0.1 C	0+.0 • • •	+0.0	1.01	<u>5</u> 1	62.0	00.0	00.0	0.0 0.0	0/4 0.000	0.00.0	BINFO U.UO
$w_{1} = \frac{1}{3} (0.2044 + 0.2012 + 0.2012) = 0.2045 \text{ or } MP_{1} = \frac{1}{3} (0.2044 + 0.2012 + 0.2012) = 0.2045 \text{ or } MP_{1} = \frac{1}{3} (0.2044 + 0.2012 + 0.2012) = 0.2045 \text{ or } MP_{1} = \frac{1}{3} (0.2044 + 0.2012 + 0.2012) = 0.2045 \text{ or } MP_{1} = \frac{1}{3} (0.2044 + 0.2012 + 0.2012) = 0.2045 \text{ or } MP_{1} = \frac{1}{3} (0.2044 + 0.2012 + 0.2012) = 0.2045 \text{ or } MP_{1} = \frac{1}{3} (0.2044 + 0.2012 + 0.2012) = 0.2045 \text{ or } MP_{1} = \frac{1}{3} (0.2044 + 0.2012 + 0.2072) = 0.2045 \text{ or } MP_{1} = \frac{0.2012}{3} \text{ or } MP_{1} = 0.2045 \text{ or } MP_{1} = 0.2044 \text{ or } MP_{1} = $		4.70 £15 0.72 0.	28 0.51 57 1 50	6.0	0.52	0.44 20.6	0.0/	0.77	CK-0 0		0.00 21 727	1.1 1.1	00	15.1 V	01.2 0	1.00	1.00	14.07	r/	20.0	1/10	96 U	w/ 0.0	970 0.015 00 1 00	0560.0	BNP/ 0.09
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	sim	·c 00'0 01'0 0/-L	5C-F 7C-	71-0	77.C	6	0 <del>1</del> -0	0.00	10.0	11.21	1 101	171		101 77	CC:07 1	61.1	10.11	10:41		0/10	1 0/1/	07-0	-	AD-1 AD-1	1.00	
$\begin{split} \hline \hline M_1 & = 1 \\ \hline M_2 & = 1 \\ \hline M_1 & = 1 \\ \hline M_2 & = 1 \\ \hline M_1 & = 1 \\ \hline M_1 & = 1 \\ \hline M_2 & = 1 \\ \hline M_1 & = $																										
$ \frac{1}{100} 1$					RESID	ENTIAL	-CONSO	LIDATED	FUZZYP	ÇM																
$w_1 = \frac{1}{3} (0.2044 + 0.2012 + 0.2012 + 0.2012 + 0.2013 + 0.14 + 0.2012 + 0.2014$		Educational Facilities	Parks & S	quares	Publ	ic Transpo	rtation	Recrea.	tional Facil	ttics	Health	Facilities		Univer	sity	P	ublic Servic	ces		Step	I			Step II		Step III
$\frac{100}{100} \frac{100}{100} \frac{100}{100}{100} \frac{100}{100} \frac{100}{100}$	<u>г</u>	- - -	в –	=	-	Ξ	=	-	E	=	_	п в	-	Е	=	-	E	=		-	E	=	_	Е	=	Centre of Are
$ \begin{split} \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		1.00 1.00 1.00 1.	19 1.46	2.10	0.69	0.98	1.49	1.28	1.78	2.31	1.34 1	99 2.5	38 1.9.	3 2.60	3.78	2.28	2.86	3.76	rl	1.30	1.68 2	2.26	wl 0.2	0.2012	0.2079	BNP1 0.20
$w_{1} = \frac{\frac{1}{08} \frac{1}{08} $		0.48 0.68 0.84 1.	00 1.00	1.00	0.92	1.09	1.93	1.36	1.96	2.81	1.58 2	.15 2.8	89 2.5	4 3.68	3 4.75	4.38	5.46	6.51	r2	1.40	1.81 2	2.36	w2 0.2	203 0.2163	0.2166	BNP2 0.21
$\begin{split} \frac{1}{12} \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2} (0.2044 + 0.2012 + 0.2012 + 0.2014 + 0.2004 + 0.2014 + 0$		0.67 1.02 1.45 0.	52 0.92	1.09	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.59	2.39	3.24	2.03 2	.85 3.8	85 2.5	0 3.27	7 4.12	3.99	5.13	6.13	r3	1.41	1.95	2.43	w3 0.2	225 0.2333	0.2230	BNP3 0.220
$\frac{1}{100} \frac{1}{100} \frac{1}$		0.43 0.56 0.78 0.	36 0.51	0.73	0.31	0.42	0.63	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.41 1	.87 2.5	77 1.8.	9 2.57	3.66	4.17	5.24	6.28	r4	0.91	1.17	1.56	w4 0.1	439 0.1402	0.1437	BNP4 0.14
$\begin{split} \overline{w_1} &= \frac{1}{33} \frac{1}{430} \frac{1}{337} 1$		0.34 0.50 0.74 0.	35 0.47	0.63	0.26	0.35	0.49	0.36	0.53	0.71	1.00 1	.00 1.6	00 1.8	6 2.95	) 4.05	3.33	4.50	5.60	5	0.68	0.93	1.21	w5 0.1	073 0.1111	0.1108	BNP5 0.10
$ \frac{1}{3.6} \frac{1}{3.6} \frac{1}{0.5} 1$		0.26 0.38 0.52 0.1	21 0.27	0.39	0.24	0.31	0.40	0.27	0.39	0.53	0.25 0	.33 0.5	54 1.0	0 1.00	1.00	1.74	2.37	3.29	r6	0.40	0.52 (	0.69	w6 0.0	0.0619	0.0636	BNP6 0.06
$ \frac{1}{135} \frac{1}{35} \frac{1}{35}$		0.27 0.35 0.44 0.	15 0.18	8 0.23	0.16	0.20	0.25	0.16	0.19	0.24	0.18 0	.22 0.3	30 0.3	0 0.42	2 0.57	1.00	1.00	1.00	r7	0.25	0.30 (	0.37	w7 0.0	0.0360	0.0344	BNP7 0.03
tion Example: te equations 4.2, 4.3 and 4.8 to 4.13 we calculate the weight of the <i>Educational Facilities</i> criterion (Residential land-uses) as follows: $r_{11} = (1 \times 1.19 \times 0.69 \times 1.28 \times 1.34 \times 1.93 \times 2.28)^{1/7} = 1.298$ $r_{1m} = (1 \times 1.46 \times 0.98 \times 1.78 \times 1.99 \times 2.60 \times 2.86)^{1/7} = 1.679$ $r_{1u} = (1 \times 2.10 \times 1.49 \times 2.31 \times 2.98 \times 3.78 \times 3.76)^{1/7} = 2.265$ $w_{11} = 1.298 \times (1 + 1.19 + 0.69 + 1.28 + 1.34 + 1.93 + 2.28)^{-1} = 0.2044$ $w_{1m} = 1.679 \times (1 + 1.46 + 0.98 + 1.78 + 1.99 + 2.60 + 2.86)^{-1} = 0.2012$ $w_{1m} = 2.265 \times (1 + 2.10 + 1.49 + 2.31 + 2.98 + 3.76)^{-1} = 0.2012$ $w_{1u} = 2.265 \times (1 + 2.10 + 1.49 + 2.31 + 2.98 + 3.76)^{-1} = 0.2012$ $w_{1u} = 2.265 \times (1 + 2.10 + 1.49 + 2.31 + 2.98 + 3.76)^{-1} = 0.2012$ $w_{1u} = 2.2079$ or $BNP_1 = \frac{(0.2079 - 0.2044) + (0.2012 - 0.2044)}{3} + 0.2044 = 0.2044 = 0.2045$	sun	3.45 4.50 5.78 3.	77 4.81	6.18	3.58	4.34	6.19	6.02	8.25	10.83	7.79 10	0.41 14.	31 12.(	32 16.5.	3 21.94	20.89	26.56	32.58		6.35	8.35 1	0.89	1	.00 1.00	1.00	1.0
tion Example: e equations 4.2, 4.3 and 4.8 to 4.13 we calculate the weight of the <i>Educational Facilities</i> criterion (Residential land-uses) as follows: $r_{1l} = (1 \times 1.19 \times 0.69 \times 1.28 \times 1.34 \times 1.93 \times 2.28)^{1/7} = 1.298$ $r_{1m} = (1 \times 1.46 \times 0.98 \times 1.78 \times 1.99 \times 2.60 \times 2.86)^{1/7} = 1.679$ $r_{1u} = (1 \times 2.10 \times 1.49 \times 2.31 \times 2.98 \times 3.76)^{1/7} = 2.265$ $w_{1l} = 1.298 \times (1 + 1.19 + 0.69 + 1.28 + 1.34 + 1.93 + 2.28)^{-1} = 0.2044$ $w_{1m} = 1.679 \times (1 + 1.46 + 0.98 + 1.78 + 1.99 + 2.60 + 2.86)^{-1} = 0.2012$ $w_{1m} = 2.265 \times (1 + 2.10 + 1.49 + 2.31 + 2.98 + 3.78 + 3.76)^{-1} = 0.2079$ $w_{1u} = 2.265 \times (1 + 2.10 + 1.49 + 2.31 + 2.98 + 3.78 + 3.76)^{-1} = 0.2079$ $w_{1u} = 2.2012 + 0.2079) = 0.2045$ or $BNP_1 = \frac{(0.2079 - 0.2044) + (0.2012 - 0.2044)}{3} + 0.2044 = 0.2044 = 0.2079$																										
e equations 4.2, 4.3 and 4.8 to 4.13 we calculate the weight of the <i>Educational Facilities</i> criterion (Residential land-uses) as follows: $r_{11} = (1 \times 1.19 \times 0.69 \times 1.28 \times 1.34 \times 1.93 \times 2.28)^{1/7} = 1.298$ $r_{1m} = (1 \times 1.46 \times 0.98 \times 1.78 \times 1.99 \times 2.60 \times 2.86)^{1/7} = 1.679$ $r_{1u} = (1 \times 2.10 \times 1.49 \times 2.31 \times 2.98 \times 3.76)^{1/7} = 2.265$ $w_{11} = 1.298 \times (1 + 1.19 + 0.69 + 1.28 + 1.34 + 1.93 + 2.28)^{-1} = 0.2044$ $w_{1m} = 1.679 \times (1 + 1.46 + 0.98 + 1.78 + 1.99 + 2.60 + 2.86)^{-1} = 0.2012$ $w_{1m} = 2.265 \times (1 + 2.10 + 1.49 + 2.31 + 2.98 + 3.78 + 3.76)^{-1} = 0.2079$ $w_{1u} = 2.265 \times (1 + 2.10 + 1.49 + 2.31 + 2.98 + 3.78 + 3.76)^{-1} = 0.2079$ $w_{1n} = \frac{1}{3} (0.2044 + 0.2012 + 0.2079) = 0.2045$ or $BNP_1 = \frac{(0.2079 - 0.2044) + (0.2012 - 0.2044)}{3} + 0.2044 = 0.2044 = 0.2079$	lior	Example:																								
$w_{1} = (1 \times 1.19 \times 0.69 \times 1.28 \times 1.34 \times 1.93 \times 2.28)^{1/7} = 1.298$ $r_{1m} = (1 \times 1.46 \times 0.98 \times 1.78 \times 1.99 \times 2.60 \times 2.86)^{1/7} = 1.679$ $w_{1u} = (1 \times 2.10 \times 1.49 \times 2.31 \times 2.98 \times 3.78 \times 3.76)^{1/7} = 2.265$ $w_{1u} = 1.298 \times (1 + 1.19 + 0.69 + 1.28 + 1.34 + 1.93 + 2.28)^{-1} = 0.2044$ $w_{1m} = 1.679 \times (1 + 1.46 + 0.98 + 1.78 + 1.99 + 2.60 + 2.86)^{-1} = 0.2012$ $w_{1u} = 2.265 \times (1 + 2.10 + 1.49 + 2.31 + 2.98 + 3.76)^{-1} = 0.2079$ $w_{1u} = 2.2045  \text{or}  BNP_{1} = \frac{(0.2079 - 0.2044) + (0.2012 - 0.2044)}{3} + 0.2044 = 0.2044 = 0.2045$	e e	11 1 1 2 4 2 4	3 and	484	11	3 WP	Calci	i late :	the w	reioh	t of t	he Fo	hicati	ional	Faci	lities	crite	rion (	Resi	denti	al lan	d-11se	c) ac	follow		
$r_{1l} = (1 \times 1.19 \times 0.69 \times 1.28 \times 1.34 \times 1.93 \times 2.28)^{1/7} = 1.298$ $r_{1m} = (1 \times 1.46 \times 0.98 \times 1.78 \times 1.99 \times 2.60 \times 2.86)^{1/7} = 1.679$ $r_{1u} = (1 \times 2.10 \times 1.49 \times 2.31 \times 2.98 \times 3.78 \times 3.76)^{1/7} = 2.265$ $w_{1l} = 1.298 \times (1 + 1.19 + 0.69 + 1.28 + 1.34 + 1.93 + 2.28)^{-1} = 0.2044$ $w_{1m} = 1.679 \times (1 + 1.46 + 0.98 + 1.78 + 1.99 + 2.60 + 2.86)^{-1} = 0.2012$ $w_{1u} = 2.265 \times (1 + 2.10 + 1.49 + 2.31 + 2.98 + 3.78 + 3.76)^{-1} = 0.2079$ $w_{1} = \frac{1}{3} (0.2044 + 0.2012 + 0.2079) = 0.2045  \text{or}  BNP_1 = \frac{(0.2079 - 0.2044) + (0.2012 - 0.2044)}{3} + 0.2014 + 0.2012 + 0.2079) = 0.2045$	5	144410110 1.2, 1.		2	-		01m0	Antri		STS.	101		man	min	inn T	C 11111	<b>3112</b>				מו ומוו		an la	MOTIOT		
$r_{1m} = (1 \times 1.46 \times 0.98 \times 1.78 \times 1.99 \times 2.60 \times 2.86)^{1/7} = 1.679$ $r_{1u} = (1 \times 2.10 \times 1.49 \times 2.31 \times 2.98 \times 3.78 \times 3.76)^{1/7} = 2.265$ $w_{11} = 1.298 \times (1 + 1.19 + 0.69 + 1.28 + 1.34 + 1.93 + 2.28)^{-1} = 0.2044$ $w_{1m} = 1.679 \times (1 + 1.46 + 0.98 + 1.78 + 1.99 + 2.60 + 2.86)^{-1} = 0.2012$ $w_{1u} = 2.265 \times (1 + 2.10 + 1.49 + 2.31 + 2.98 + 3.76)^{-1} = 0.2079$ $w_{1} = \frac{1}{3} (0.2044 + 0.2012 + 0.2079) = 0.2045  \text{or}  BNP_1 = \frac{(0.2079 - 0.2044) + (0.2012 - 0.2044)}{3} + 0.2044 = 0.2044 = 0.2045$					$r_{1l}$	<u> </u>	$l \times 1$	.19 >	< 0.6	9 × 0	1.28	× 1.3	$4 \times$	1.93	× 2.2	28) <sup>1,</sup>	= _/	1.29	ω							
$w_{11} = (1 \times 2.10 \times 1.49 \times 2.31 \times 2.98 \times 3.76)^{1/7} = 2.265$ $w_{11} = 1.298 \times (1 + 1.19 + 0.69 + 1.28 + 1.34 + 1.93 + 2.28)^{-1} = 0.2044$ $w_{1m} = 1.679 \times (1 + 1.46 + 0.98 + 1.78 + 1.99 + 2.60 + 2.86)^{-1} = 0.2012$ $w_{1u} = 2.265 \times (1 + 2.10 + 1.49 + 2.31 + 2.98 + 3.78 + 3.76)^{-1} = 0.2079$ $w_{1} = \frac{1}{3} (0.2044 + 0.2012 + 0.2079) = 0.2045  \text{or}  BNP_{1} = \frac{(0.2079 - 0.2044) + (0.2012 - 0.2044)}{3} + 0.2044 = 0.2044 = 0.2045$					$r_{1m}$		$1 \times 1$	.46	× 0.5	$\times 86$	1.78	$\times 1.5$	× 66	2.60	X 2.	$86)^{1}$	= _/	1.67	6							
$w_{1l} = 1.298 \times (1 + 1.19 + 0.69 + 1.28 + 1.34 + 1.93 + 2.28)^{-1} = 0.2044$ $w_{1m} = 1.679 \times (1 + 1.46 + 0.98 + 1.78 + 1.99 + 2.60 + 2.86)^{-1} = 0.2012$ $w_{1u} = 2.265 \times (1 + 2.10 + 1.49 + 2.31 + 2.98 + 3.78 + 3.76)^{-1} = 0.2079$ $w_1 = \frac{1}{3} (0.2044 + 0.2012 + 0.2079) = 0.2045  \text{or}  BNP_1 = \frac{(0.2079 - 0.2044) + (0.2012 - 0.2044)}{3} + 0.2044 = 0.2044 = 0.2045$					$r_{1u}$	, <u>()</u> 	1 × 2	.10 >	× 1.4	× 6	2.31	× 2.5	98 ×	3.78	× 3.	76) <sup>1</sup>	/7 =	2.26	ъ							
$w_{1m} = 1.679 \times (1 + 1.46 + 0.98 + 1.78 + 1.99 + 2.60 + 2.86)^{-1} = 0.2012$ $w_{1u} = 2.265 \times (1 + 2.10 + 1.49 + 2.31 + 2.98 + 3.78 + 3.76)^{-1} = 0.2079$ $w_1 = \frac{1}{3} (0.2044 + 0.2012 + 0.2079) = 0.2045  \text{or}  BNP_1 = \frac{(0.2079 - 0.2044) + (0.2012 - 0.2044)}{3} + 0.2044 = 0.2045$				$W_{1l}$	بے ا	298	$\times$ (1	+ 1	19 +	.0.6	9 + 1	-284	+ 1.3	4 +	1.93	+ 2.2	28)-	1 = 0	).204	4						
$w_1 = \frac{1}{3} (0.2044 + 0.2012 + 0.2079) = 0.2045$ or $BNP_1 = \frac{(0.2079 - 0.2044) + (0.2012 - 0.2044)}{3} + 0.2044 = 0.2045$				W <sub>1</sub> m W <sub>1u</sub>	= 1	.679 .265	(] × (] (1	[ + 1 + 2.	.46 - .10 +	+ 0.9 - 1.4	+ + 6	1.78 2.31 -	+ 1.5 + 2.9	+ 66 + 8(	2.60 3.78	+ + 3.	86) <sup>-</sup> 76) <sup>-</sup>		0.20	12 79						
	M	$=\frac{1}{2}$ (0.2044)	0+	201	+	0.20	- (62	= 0.2	045		r	BNF	م اا	(0.20	0 -62(	.2044	)+ (0.	2012-	- 0.204	+ + +	0.2(	)44 =	= 0.2	045		
	:	1 3 ~~~~~	-		-						5		-				ŝ			-		•				

Table I. 8 - Consolidated fuzzy pairwise comparison matrices and criteria weights

# **APPENDIX II**

AHP & Criteria Maps



Figure II.1 - Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) diagram



Figure II. 2 - Suitability map for distance from bus line junctions (commercial LUs)



Figure II. 3 - Suitability map for distance from the city centre (commercial LUs)



Figure II. 4 - Suitability map for distance from parks & squares (commercial LUs)



Figure II. 5 - Suitability map for distance from public services (commercial LUs)



Figure II. 6 - Suitability map for distance from recreation areas (commercial LUs)



Figure II. 7 - Suitability map for distance from commercial roads (commercial LUs)



Figure II. 8 - Suitability map for distance from waterfront (commercial LUs)



Figure II. 9 - Suitability map for distance from bus line junctions (office LUs)



Figure II. 10 - Suitability map for distance from city centre (office LUs)



Figure II. 11 - Suitability map for distance from office roads (office LUs)



Figure II. 12 - Suitability map for distance from parks & squares (office LUs)



Figure II. 13 - Suitability map for distance from port-front (office LUs)



Figure II. 14 - Suitability map for distance from public services (office LUs)



Figure II. 15 - Suitability map for distance from recreation areas (office LUs)



Figure II. 16 - Suitability map for distance from bus stops (residential LUs)



Figure II. 17 - Suitability map for distance from health facilities (residential LUs)



Figure II. 18 - Suitability map for distance from parks & squares (residential LUs)



Figure II. 19 - Suitability map for distance from public services (residential LUs)



Figure II. 20 - Suitability map for distance from recreation areas (residential LUs)



Figure II. 21 - Suitability map for distance from school junctions (residential LUs)



Figure II. 22 - Suitability map for distance from university facilities (residential LUs)

Page intentionally left blank

### Series from Lund University

## **Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science**

## Master Thesis in Geographical Information Science

- 1. *Anthony Lawther*: The application of GIS-based binary logistic regression for slope failure susceptibility mapping in the Western Grampian Mountains, Scotland (2008).
- 2. *Rickard Hansen*: Daily mobility in Grenoble Metropolitan Region, France. Applied GIS methods in time geographical research (2008).
- 3. *Emil Bayramov*: Environmental monitoring of bio-restoration activities using GIS and Remote Sensing (2009).
- 4. *Rafael Villarreal Pacheco*: Applications of Geographic Information Systems as an analytical and visualization tool for mass real estate valuation: a case study of Fontibon District, Bogota, Columbia (2009).
- 5. *Siri Oestreich Waage*: a case study of route solving for oversized transport: The use of GIS functionalities in transport of transformers, as part of maintaining a reliable power infrastructure (2010).
- 6. *Edgar Pimiento*: Shallow landslide susceptibility Modelling and validation (2010).
- 7. *Martina Schäfer*: Near real-time mapping of floodwater mosquito breeding sites using aerial photographs (2010).
- 8. *August Pieter van Waarden-Nagel*: Land use evaluation to assess the outcome of the programme of rehabilitation measures for the river Rhine in the Netherlands (2010).
- Samira Muhammad: Development and implementation of air quality data mart for Ontario, Canada: A case study of air quality in Ontario using OLAP tool. (2010).
- 10. *Fredros Oketch Okumu*: Using remotely sensed data to explore spatial and temporal relationships between photosynthetic productivity of vegetation and malaria transmission intensities in selected parts of Africa (2011).
- 11. *Svajunas Plunge*: Advanced decision support methods for solving diffuse water pollution problems (2011).

- 12. *Jonathan Higgins*: Monitoring urban growth in greater Lagos: A case study using GIS to monitor the urban growth of Lagos 1990 2008 and produce future growth prospects for the city (2011).
- 13. *Mårten Karlberg*: Mobile Map Client API: Design and Implementation for Android (2011).
- 14. *Jeanette McBride*: Mapping Chicago area urban tree canopy using color infrared imagery (2011).
- 15. *Andrew Farina*: Exploring the relationship between land surface temperature and vegetation abundance for urban heat island mitigation in Seville, Spain (2011).
- 16. *David Kanyari*: Nairobi City Journey Planner: An online and a Mobile Application (2011).
- 17. *Laura V. Drews*: Multi-criteria GIS analysis for siting of small wind power plants A case study from Berlin (2012).
- 18. *Qaisar Nadeem*: Best living neighborhood in the city A GIS based multi criteria evaluation of ArRiyadh City (2012).
- 19. *Ahmed Mohamed El Saeid Mustafa*: Development of a photo voltaic building rooftop integration analysis tool for GIS for Dokki District, Cairo, Egypt (2012).
- 20. *Daniel Patrick Taylor*: Eastern Oyster Aquaculture: Estuarine Remediation via Site Suitability and Spatially Explicit Carrying Capacity Modeling in Virginia's Chesapeake Bay (2013).
- 21. *Angeleta Oveta Wilson*: A Participatory GIS approach to *unearthing* Manchester's Cultural Heritage '*gold mine*' (2013).
- 22. *Ola Svensson*: Visibility and Tholos Tombs in the Messenian Landscape: A Comparative Case Study of the Pylian Hinterlands and the Soulima Valley (2013).
- 23. *Monika Ogden*: Land use impact on water quality in two river systems in South Africa (2013).
- 24. *Stefan Rova*: A GIS based approach assessing phosphorus load impact on Lake Flaten in Salem, Sweden (2013).
- 25. *Yann Buhot*: Analysis of the history of landscape changes over a period of 200 years. How can we predict past landscape pattern scenario and the impact on habitat diversity? (2013).

- 26. *Christina Fotiou*: Evaluating habitat suitability and spectral heterogeneity models to predict weed species presence (2014).
- 27. Inese Linuza: Accuracy Assessment in Glacier Change Analysis (2014).
- 28. *Agnieszka Griffin*: Domestic energy consumption and social living standards: a GIS analysis within the Greater London Authority area (2014).
- 29. *Brynja Guðmundsdóttir*: Detection of potential arable land with remote sensing and GIS A Case Study for Kjósarhreppur (2014).
- Oleksandr Nekrasov: Processing of MODIS Vegetation Indices for analysis of agricultural droughts in the southern Ukraine between the years 2000-2012 (2014).
- 31. *Sarah Tressel*: Recommendations for a polar Earth science portal in the context of Arctic Spatial Data Infrastructure (2014).
- 32. *Caroline Gevaert*: Combining Hyperspectral UAV and Multispectral Formosat-2 Imagery for Precision Agriculture Applications (2014).
- 33. *Salem Jamal-Uddeen*: Using GeoTools to implement the multi-criteria evaluation analysis weighted linear combination model (2014).
- 34. *Samanah Seyedi-Shandiz*: Schematic representation of geographical railway network at the Swedish Transport Administration (2014).
- 35. *Kazi Masel Ullah*: Urban Land-use planning using Geographical Information System and analytical hierarchy process: case study Dhaka City (2014).
- 36. *Alexia Chang-Wailing Spitteler*: Development of a web application based on MCDA and GIS for the decision support of river and floodplain rehabilitation projects (2014).
- Alessandro De Martino: Geographic accessibility analysis and evaluation of potential changes to the public transportation system in the City of Milan (2014).
- 38. *Alireza Mollasalehi*: GIS Based Modelling for Fuel Reduction Using Controlled Burn in Australia. Case Study: Logan City, QLD (2015).
- Negin A. Sanati: Chronic Kidney Disease Mortality in Costa Rica; Geographical Distribution, Spatial Analysis and Non-traditional Risk Factors (2015).
- 40. *Karen McIntyre*: Benthic mapping of the Bluefields Bay fish sanctuary, Jamaica (2015).

- 41. *Kees van Duijvendijk*: Feasibility of a low-cost weather sensor network for agricultural purposes: A preliminary assessment (2015).
- 42. *Sebastian Andersson Hylander*: Evaluation of cultural ecosystem services using GIS (2015).
- 43. *Deborah Bowyer*: Measuring Urban Growth, Urban Form and Accessibility as Indicators of Urban Sprawl in Hamilton, New Zealand (2015).
- 44. *Stefan Arvidsson*: Relationship between tree species composition and phenology extracted from satellite data in Swedish forests (2015).
- 45. *Damián Giménez Cruz*: GIS-based optimal localisation of beekeeping in rural Kenya (2016).
- Alejandra Narváez Vallejo: Can the introduction of the topographic indices in LPJ-GUESS improve the spatial representation of environmental variables? (2016).
- 47. *Anna Lundgren*: Development of a method for mapping the highest coastline in Sweden using breaklines extracted from high resolution digital elevation models (2016).
- 48. *Oluwatomi Esther Adejoro*: Does location also matter? A spatial analysis of social achievements of young South Australians (2016).
- 49. *Hristo Dobrev Tomov*: Automated temporal NDVI analysis over the Middle East for the period 1982 2010 (2016).
- 50. *Vincent Muller*: Impact of Security Context on Mobile Clinic Activities A GIS Multi Criteria Evaluation based on an MSF Humanitarian Mission in Cameroon (2016).
- 51. *Gezahagn Negash Seboka*: Spatial Assessment of NDVI as an Indicator of Desertification in Ethiopia using Remote Sensing and GIS (2016).
- 52. *Holly Buhler:* Evaluation of Interfacility Medical Transport Journey Times in Southeastern British Columbia. (2016).
- 53. *Lars Ole Grottenberg*: Assessing the ability to share spatial data between emergency management organisations in the High North (2016).
- 54. *Sean Grant*: The Right Tree in the Right Place: Using GIS to Maximize the Net Benefits from Urban Forests (2016).
- 55. *Irshad Jamal*: Multi-Criteria GIS Analysis for School Site Selection in Gorno-Badakhshan Autonomous Oblast, Tajikistan (2016).

- 56. *Fulgencio Sanmartín*: Wisdom-volkano: A novel tool based on open GIS and time-series visualization to analyse and share volcanic data (2016).
- 57. *Nezha Acil*: Remote sensing-based monitoring of snow cover dynamics and its influence on vegetation growth in the Middle Atlas Mountains (2016).
- 58. *Julia Hjalmarsson*: A Weighty Issue: Estimation of Fire Size with Geographically Weighted Logistic Regression (2016).
- 59. *Mathewos Tamiru Amato*: Using multi-criteria evaluation and GIS for chronic food and nutrition insecurity indicators analysis in Ethiopia (2016).
- 60. *Karim Alaa El Din Mohamed Soliman El Attar*: Bicycling Suitability in Downtown, Cairo, Egypt (2016).
- 61. *Gilbert Akol Echelai*: Asset Management: Integrating GIS as a Decision Support Tool in Meter Management in National Water and Sewerage Corporation (2016).
- 62. *Terje Slinning*: Analytic comparison of multibeam echo soundings (2016).
- 63. *Gréta Hlín Sveinsdóttir*: GIS-based MCDA for decision support: A framework for wind farm siting in Iceland (2017).
- 64. *Jonas Sjögren*: Consequences of a flood in Kristianstad, Sweden: A GIS-based analysis of impacts on important societal functions (2017).
- 65. *Nadine Raska*: 3D geologic subsurface modelling within the Mackenzie Plain, Northwest Territories, Canada (2017).
- 66. *Panagiotis Symeonidis*: Study of spatial and temporal variation of atmospheric optical parameters and their relation with PM 2.5 concentration over Europe using GIS technologies (2017).
- 67. *Michaela Bobeck:* A GIS-based Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis of Wind Farm Site Suitability in New South Wales, Australia, from a Sustainable Development Perspective (2017).
- 68. *Raghdaa Eissa*: Developing a GIS Model for the Assessment of Outdoor Recreational Facilities in New Cities Case Study: Tenth of Ramadan City, Egypt (2017).
- 69. *Zahra Khais Shahid*: Biofuel plantations and isoprene emissions in Svea and Götaland (2017).
- 70. *Mirza Amir Liaquat Baig*: Using geographical information systems in epidemiology: Mapping and analyzing occurrence of diarrhea in urban residential area of Islamabad, Pakistan (2017).

- 71. *Joakim Jörwall*: Quantitative model of Present and Future well-being in the EU-28: A spatial Multi-Criteria Evaluation of socioeconomic and climatic comfort factors (2017).
- 72. *Elin Haettner*: Energy Poverty in the Dublin Region: Modelling Geographies of Risk (2017).
- 73. *Harry Eriksson*: Geochemistry of stream plants and its statistical relations to soil- and bedrock geology, slope directions and till geochemistry. A GIS-analysis of small catchments in northern Sweden (2017).
- 74. *Daniel Gardevärn*: PPGIS and Public meetings An evaluation of public participation methods for urban planning (2017).
- 75. *Kim Friberg*: Sensitivity Analysis and Calibration of Multi Energy Balance Land Surface Model Parameters (2017).
- 76. *Viktor Svanerud*: Taking the bus to the park? A study of accessibility to green areas in Gothenburg through different modes of transport (2017).
- 77. *Lisa-Gaye Greene*: Deadly Designs: The Impact of Road Design on Road Crash Patterns along Jamaica's North Coast Highway (2017).
- 78. *Katarina Jemec Parker*: Spatial and temporal analysis of fecal indicator bacteria concentrations in beach water in San Diego, California (2017).
- 79. *Angela Kabiru*: An Exploratory Study of Middle Stone Age and Later Stone Age Site Locations in Kenya's Central Rift Valley Using Landscape Analysis: A GIS Approach (2017).
- 80. *Kristean Björkmann*: Subjective Well-Being and Environment: A GIS-Based Analysis (2018).
- 81. *Williams Erhunmonmen Ojo*: Measuring spatial accessibility to healthcare for people living with HIV-AIDS in southern Nigeria (2018).
- 82. *Daniel Assefa*: Developing Data Extraction and Dynamic Data Visualization (Styling) Modules for Web GIS Risk Assessment System (WGRAS). (2018).
- 83. *Adela Nistora*: Inundation scenarios in a changing climate: assessing potential impacts of sea-level rise on the coast of South-East England (2018).
- 84. *Marc Seliger*: Thirsty landscapes Investigating growing irrigation water consumption and potential conservation measures within Utah's largest master-planned community: Daybreak (2018).
- 85. *Luka Jovičić*: Spatial Data Harmonisation in Regional Context in Accordance with INSPIRE Implementing Rules (2018).
- 86. *Christina Kourdounouli*: Analysis of Urban Ecosystem Condition Indicators for the Large Urban Zones and City Cores in EU (2018).
- 87. *Jeremy Azzopardi*: Effect of distance measures and feature representations on distance-based accessibility measures (2018).
- 88. *Patrick Kabatha*: An open source web GIS tool for analysis and visualization of elephant GPS telemetry data, alongside environmental and anthropogenic variables (2018).
- 89. *Richard Alphonce Giliba*: Effects of Climate Change on Potential Geographical Distribution of Prunus africana (African cherry) in the Eastern Arc Mountain Forests of Tanzania (2018).
- 90. *Eiður Kristinn Eiðsson*: Transformation and linking of authoritative multiscale geodata for the Semantic Web: A case study of Swedish national building data sets (2018).
- 91. *Niamh Harty*: HOP!: a PGIS and citizen science approach to monitoring the condition of upland paths (2018).
- 92. *José Estuardo Jara Alvear*: Solar photovoltaic potential to complement hydropower in Ecuador: A GIS-based framework of analysis (2018).
- 93. *Brendan O'Neill*: Multicriteria Site Suitability for Algal Biofuel Production Facilities (2018).
- 94. *Roman Spataru*: Spatial-temporal GIS analysis in public health a case study of polio disease (2018).
- 95. *Alicja Miodońska*: Assessing evolution of ice caps in Suðurland, Iceland, in years 1986 2014, using multispectral satellite imagery (2019).
- 96. *Dennis Lindell Schettini*: A Spatial Analysis of Homicide Crime's Distribution and Association with Deprivation in Stockholm Between 2010-2017 (2019).
- 97. *Damiano Vesentini*: The Po Delta Biosphere Reserve: Management challenges and priorities deriving from anthropogenic pressure and sea level rise (2019).
- 98. *Emilie Arnesten*: Impacts of future sea level rise and high water on roads, railways and environmental objects: a GIS analysis of the potential effects of increasing sea levels and highest projected high water in Scania, Sweden (2019).
- 99. *Syed Muhammad Amir Raza*: Comparison of geospatial support in RDF stores: Evaluation for ICOS Carbon Portal metadata (2019).

- 100. *Hemin Tofiq*: Investigating the accuracy of Digital Elevation Models from UAV images in areas with low contrast: A sandy beach as a case study (2019).
- 101. *Evangelos Vafeiadis*: Exploring the distribution of accessibility by public transport using spatial analysis. A case study for retail concentrations and public hospitals in Athens (2019).
- 102. *Milan Sekulic*: Multi-Criteria GIS modelling for optimal alignment of roadway by-passes in the Tlokweng Planning Area, Botswana (2019).
- 103. *Ingrid Piirisaar*: A multi-criteria GIS analysis for siting of utility-scale photovoltaic solar plants in county Kilkenny, Ireland (2019).
- 104. *Nigel Fox*: Plant phenology and climate change: possible effect on the onset of various wild plant species' first flowering day in the UK (2019).
- 105. *Gunnar Hesch*: Linking conflict events and cropland development in Afghanistan, 2001 to 2011, using MODIS land cover data and Uppsala Conflict Data Programme (2019).
- 106. *Elijah Njoku*: Analysis of spatial-temporal pattern of Land Surface Temperature (LST) due to NDVI and elevation in Ilorin, Nigeria (2019).
- 107. *Katalin Bunyevácz*: Development of a GIS methodology to evaluate informal urban green areas for inclusion in a community governance program (2019).
- 108. *Paul dos Santos*: Automating synthetic trip data generation for an agent-based simulation of urban mobility (2019).
- 109. *Robert O' Dwyer*: Land cover changes in Southern Sweden from the mid-Holocene to present day: Insights for ecosystem service assessments (2019).
- 110. *Daniel Klingmyr*: Global scale patterns and trends in tropospheric NO2 concentrations (2019).
- 111. *Marwa Farouk Elkabbany*: Sea Level Rise Vulnerability Assessment for Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates (2019).
- 112. *Jip Jan van Zoonen*: Aspects of Error Quantification and Evaluation in Digital Elevation Models for Glacier Surfaces (2020).
- 113. *Georgios Efthymiou*: The use of bicycles in a mid-sized city benefits and obstacles identified using a questionnaire and GIS (2020).
- 114. *Haruna Olayiwola Jimoh*: Assessment of Urban Sprawl in MOWE/IBAFO Axis of Ogun State using GIS Capabilities (2020).

- 115. *Nikolaos Barmpas Zachariadis*: Development of an iOS, Augmented Reality for disaster management (2020).
- Ida Storm: ICOS Atmospheric Stations: Spatial Characterization of CO2 Footprint Areas and Evaluating the Uncertainties of Modelled CO2 Concentrations (2020).
- 117. *Alon Zuta*: Evaluation of water stress mapping methods in vineyards using airborne thermal imaging (2020).
- 118. *Marcus Eriksson*: Evaluating structural landscape development in the municipality Upplands-Bro, using landscape metrics indices (2020).
- 119. *Ane Rahbek Vierø*: Connectivity for Cyclists? A Network Analysis of Copenhagen's Bike Lanes (2020).
- 120. *Cecilia Baggini*: Changes in habitat suitability for three declining Anatidae species in saltmarshes on the Mersey estuary, North-West England (2020).
- 121. *Bakrad Balabanian*: Transportation and Its Effect on Student Performance (2020).
- Ali Al Farid: Knowledge and Data Driven Approaches for Hydrocarbon Microseepage Characterizations: An Application of Satellite Remote Sensing (2020).
- 123. *Bartlomiej Kolodziejczyk*: Distribution Modelling of Gene Drive-Modified Mosquitoes and Their Effects on Wild Populations (2020).
- 124. *Alexis Cazorla*: Decreasing organic nitrogen concentrations in European water bodies links to organic carbon trends and land cover (2020).
- 125. *Kharid Mwakoba*: Remote sensing analysis of land cover/use conditions of community-based wildlife conservation areas in Tanzania (2021).
- 126. *Chinatsu Endo*: Remote Sensing Based Pre-Season Yellow Rust Early Warning in Oromia, Ethiopia (2021).
- Berit Mohr: Using remote sensing and land abandonment as a proxy for longterm human out-migration. A Case Study: Al-Hassakeh Governorate, Syria (2021).
- 128. *Kanchana Nirmali Bandaranayake*: Considering future precipitation in delineation locations for water storage systems Case study Sri Lanka (2021).
- 129. *Emma Bylund*: Dynamics of net primary production and food availability in the aftermath of the 2004 and 2007 desert locust outbreaks in Niger and Yemen (2021).

- 130. *Shawn Pace*: Urban infrastructure inundation risk from permanent sea-level rise scenarios in London (UK), Bangkok (Thailand) and Mumbai (India): A comparative analysis (2021).
- 131. Oskar Evert Johansson: The hydrodynamic impacts of Estuarine Oyster reefs, and the application of drone technology to this study (2021).
- 132. *Pritam Kumarsingh*: A Case Study to develop and test GIS/SDSS methods to assess the production capacity of a Cocoa Site in Trinidad and Tobago (2021).
- 133. *Muhammad Imran Khan*: Property Tax Mapping and Assessment using GIS (2021).
- 134. *Domna Kanari*: Mining geosocial data from Flickr to explore tourism patterns: The case study of Athens (2021).
- 135. Mona Tykesson Klubien: Livestock-MRSA in Danish pig farms (2021).
- 136. *Ove Njøten*: Comparing radar satellites. Use of Sentinel-1 leads to an increase in oil spill alerts in Norwegian waters (2021).
- 137. *Panagiotis Patrinos*: Change of heating fuel consumption patterns produced by the economic crisis in Greece (2021).
- 138. *Lukasz Langowski*: Assessing the suitability of using Sentinel-1A SAR multitemporal imagery to detect fallow periods between rice crops (2021).
- 139. *Jonas Tillman*: Perception accuracy and user acceptance of legend designs for opacity data mapping in GIS (2022).
- 140. *Gabriela Olekszyk*: ALS (Airborne LIDAR) accuracy: Can potential low data quality of ground points be modelled/detected? Case study of 2016 LIDAR capture over Auckland, New Zealand (2022).
- 141. *Luke Aspland*: Weights of Evidence Predictive Modelling in Archaeology (2022).
- 142. *Luís Fareleira Gomes*: The influence of climate, population density, tree species and land cover on fire pattern in mainland Portugal (2022).
- Andreas Eriksson: Mapping Fire Salamander (Salamandra salamandra) Habitat Suitability in Baden-Württemberg with Multi-Temporal Sentinel-1 and Sentinel-2 Imagery (2022).
- 144. *Lisbet Hougaard Baklid*: Geographical expansion rate of a brown bear population in Fennoscandia and the factors explaining the directional variations (2022).

- 145. Victoria Persson: Mussels in deep water with climate change: Spatial distribution of mussel (Mytilus galloprovincialis) growth offshore in the French Mediterranean with respect to climate change scenario RCP 8.5 Long Term and Integrated Multi-Trophic Aquaculture (IMTA) using Dynamic Energy Budget (DEB) modelling (2022).
- 146. *Benjamin Bernard Fabien Gérard Borgeais*: Implementing a multi-criteria GIS analysis and predictive modelling to locate Upper Palaeolithic decorated caves in the Périgord noir, France (2022).
- 147. *Bernat Dorado-Guerrero*: Assessing the impact of post-fire restoration interventions using spectral vegetation indices: A case study in El Bruc, Spain (2022).
- 148. *Ignatius Gabriel Aloysius Maria Perera*: The Influence of Natural Radon Occurrence on the Severity of the COVID-19 Pandemic in Germany: A Spatial Analysis (2022).
- 149. *Mark Overton*: An Analysis of Spatially-enabled Mobile Decision Support Systems in a Collaborative Decision-Making Environment (2022).
- 150. *Viggo Lunde*: Analysing methods for visualizing time-series datasets in opensource web mapping (2022).
- 151. *Johan Viscarra Hansson*: Distribution Analysis of Impatiens glandulifera in Kronoberg County and a Pest Risk Map for Alvesta Municipality (2022).
- 152. *Vincenzo Poppiti*: GIS and Tourism: Developing strategies for new touristic flows after the Covid-19 pandemic (2022).
- 153. *Henrik Hagelin*: Wildfire growth modelling in Sweden A suitability assessment of available data (2023).
- 154. *Gabriel Romeo Ferriols Pavico*: Where there is road, there is fire (influence): An exploratory study on the influence of roads in the spatial patterns of Swedish wildfires of 2018 (2023).
- 155. *Colin Robert Potter*: Using a GIS to enable an economic, land use and energy output comparison between small wind powered turbines and large-scale wind farms: the case of Oslo, Norway (2023).
- 156. *Krystyna Muszel*: Impact of Sea Surface Temperature and Salinity on Phytoplankton blooms phenology in the North Sea (2023).
- 157. *Tobias Rydlinge*: Urban tree canopy mapping an open source deep learning approach (2023).

- 158. *Albert Wellendorf*: Multi-scale Bark Beetle Predictions Using Machine Learning (2023).
- 159. *Manolis Papadakis*: Use of Satellite Remote Sensing for Detecting Archaeological Features: An Example from Ancient Corinth, Greece (2023).
- 160. Konstantinos Sourlamtas: Developing a Geographical Information System for a water and sewer network, for monitoring, identification and leak repair -Case study: Municipal Water Company of Naoussa, Greece (2023).
- 161. *Xiaoming Wang*: Identification of restoration hotspots in landscape-scale green infrastructure planning based on model-predicted connectivity forest (2023).
- 162. *Sarah Sienaert*: Usability of Sentinel-1 C-band VV and VH SAR data for the detection of flooded oil palm (2023).
- 163. *Katarina Ekeroot*: Uncovering the spatial relationships between Covid-19 vaccine coverage and local politics in Sweden (2023).
- 164. *Nikolaos Kouskoulis*: Exploring patterns in risk factors for bark beetle attack during outbreaks triggered by drought stress with harvester data on attacked trees: A case study in Southeastern Sweden (2023).
- 165. *Jonas Almén*: Geographic polarization and clustering of partisan voting: A local-level analysis of Stockholm Municipality (2023).
- 166. *Sara Sharon Jones*: Tree species impact on Forest Fire Spread Susceptibility in Sweden (2023).
- 167. *Takura Matswetu*: Towards a Geographic Information Systems and Data-Driven Integration Management. Studying holistic integration through spatial accessibility of services in Tampere, Finland. (2023).
- 168. *Duncan Jones*: Investigating the influence of the tidal regime on harbour porpoise *Phocoena phocoena* distribution in Mount's Bay, Cornwall (2023).
- 169. *Jason Craig Joubert*: A comparison of remote sensed semi-arid grassland vegetation anomalies detected using MODIS and Sentinel-3, with anomalies in ground-based eddy covariance flux measurements (2023).
- 170. *Anastasia Sarelli*: Land cover classification using machine-learning techniques applied to fused multi-modal satellite imagery and time series data (2024).
- 171. *Athanasios Senteles*: Integrating Local Knowledge into the Spatial Analysis of Wind Power: The case study of Northern Tzoumerka, Greece (2024).
- 172. *Rebecca Borg*: Using GIS and satellite data to assess access of green area for children living in growing cities (2024).

173. *Panagiotis–Dimitrios Tsachageas*: Multicriteria Evaluation in Real Estate Land-use Suitability Analysis: The case of Volos, Greece (2024).

--- End of Document ---

Page intentionally left blank